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tHIs DoCUMent Is IMPoRtAnt AnD ReQUIRes YoUR IMMeDIAte AttentIon. If you are 
in any doubt as to the action you should take you should consult your stockbroker, bank 
manager, solicitor, accountant or other independent financial adviser authorised under the 
Financial services and Markets Act 2000 if you are in the United Kingdom or, if not, another 
appropriately authorised financial adviser. 

If you have sold or otherwise transferred all of your ordinary shares in Herald Investment 
trust plc, please forward this document and the accompanying form of proxy as soon as 
possible to the purchaser or transferee or to the stockbroker, bank or other agent through 
whom the sale or transfer was or is being effected for delivery to the purchaser or transferee.
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CoMPAnY sUMMARY

Policy and Objective Herald’s objective is to achieve capital appreciation through investments in 
smaller quoted companies, in the areas of telecommunications, multimedia 
and technology (TMT). Investments may be made across the world. 
The business activities of investee companies will include information 
technology, broadcasting, printing and publishing and the supply of 
equipment and services to these companies. 

The Company’s investment policy is contained within the Business Review 
on page 22. 

Comparative Index The portfolio comparative index against which performance is measured 
is 2/3 Numis Smaller Companies Index (previously Hoare Govett Smaller 
Companies Index) plus AIM (capital gains ex. investment companies) and 
1/3 Russell 2000 (small cap) Technology Index (in sterling terms). 

Though we consider this comparative index to provide a reasonable base 
for measuring the Company’s performance, the portfolio is not modelled 
on it and outcomes may diverge widely. 

Management Details Herald Investment Management Limited (‘HIML’) is the appointed 
investment manager to the Company. The management contract can be 
terminated at twelve months’ notice. Administration of the Company and 
its investments is contracted by HIML to Baillie Gifford & Co, who also act 
as Company Secretary. 

Capital Structure The Company’s share capital consists of 79,323,283 Ordinary shares of 
25p each which are issued and fully paid.

The Company has been granted authority to buy back a limited number of 
its own Ordinary shares for cancellation. During the year 375,000 Ordinary 
shares were bought back and cancelled. The Directors are seeking to renew 
this authority at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting. 

Management Fee Herald Investment Management Limited’s annual remuneration is 1.0% of 
the Company’s net asset value based on middle market prices, calculated 
on a monthly basis payable in arrears. 

Continuation At the Annual General Meeting of the Company held in April 2010 
shareholders voted in favour of the Company continuing to operate as an 
investment trust. The next continuation vote will be on 23 April 2013 and 
every third year thereafter. 

AIC The Company is a member of the Association of Investment Companies. 

None of the views expressed in this document should be construed as advice to buy or sell a 
particular investment. 

Investment trusts are UK public listed companies and as such comply with the requirements of 
the UK Listing Authority. They are not authorised or regulated by the Financial Services Authority.

CoMPAnY DAtA At 31 DeCeMBeR 2012

total assets† shareholders’ funds Market capitalisation

£572m £502m £407m

† Before deduction of bank loans and derivative financial instruments.
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YeAR’s sUMMARY

Source: Thomson Reuters Datastream/Baillie Gifford & Co
† 2/3 Numis Smaller Companies Index (previously Hoare Govett Smaller Companies Index) plus AIM (capital gains ex. investment companies)  

and 1/3 Russell 2000 (small cap) Technology Index (in sterling terms).

HERALD’S SHARE PRICE, NAV AND COMPOSITE COMPARATIVE INDEX

(figures have been rebased to 100 at 31 December 2011)
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31 December
2012

31 December
2011 % change

Total assets (before deduction of bank loans and derivative financial instruments) £572.2m £519.7m

Bank loans £50.0m £50.0m

Derivative financial instruments £20.3m £20.4m

Shareholders’ funds £501.9m £449.3m  

Net asset value per Ordinary share 632.8p 563.7p 12.3

Share price 513.0p 455.0p 12.7

Numis Smaller Companies Index plus AIM
(capital gains ex. investment companies) 3,704.0 3,101.6 19.4

Russell 2000 (small cap) Technology Index (in sterling terms) 917.6 880.9 4.2

Composite comparative index 14.4

Dividend per Ordinary share 1.00p 1.00p

Revenue earnings per Ordinary share 0.94p 1.19p  

Ongoing charges 1.08% 1.10%  

Discount to NAV 18.9% 19.3%

Year to 31 December 2012 2012 2011 2011

Year’s high and low High Low High Low

Share price 527.5p 455.0p 545.5p 419.0p

Net asset value 650.7p 562.6p 647.8p 516.7p

Discount 23.2% 16.0% 22.2% 13.1%

At 31 December 2012 2011

net return per ordinary share

Revenue 0.94p 1.19p

Capital 68.78p (31.43p)

Total 69.72p (30.24p)

Past performance is not a guide to future performance.
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Long teRM PeRFoRMAnCe sUMMARY

The following charts indicate how an investment in Herald has performed over the period since inception of 
the Company.

31 December
2012

Inception
16 February

1994 % change

Net asset value per Ordinary share (including current year income) 632.8p 98.7p 541.1

Net asset value per Ordinary share (excluding current year income) 631.8p 98.7p 540.1

Share price 513.0p 90.9p 464.4

Numis Smaller Companies Index plus AIM (capital gains ex. investment companies) 3,704.0 1,750.0 111.7

Russell 2000 (small cap) Technology Index (in sterling terms)† 917.6 688.7* 33.2

* At 9 April 1996 being the date funds were first available for international investment. 
† The Russell 2000 (small cap) Technology Index was rebased during 2009 following some minor adjustments to its constituents. The rebased index is 

used from 31 December 2008 onwards.

Source: Thomson Reuters Datastream
The premium/(discount) is the difference between Herald’s quoted share price and its underlying fully diluted net asset value.
# From 1 January 2006, the comparative index was changed to 2/3 Numis Smaller Companies Index (previously Hoare Govett Smaller Companies Index) 

plus AIM (capital gains ex. investment companies) and 1/3 Russell 2000 (small cap) Technology Index (in sterling terms).

PREMIUM/(DISCOUNT) TO FULLY DILUTED NET ASSET VALUE
(plotted on a monthly basis)
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Directors 
Julian Cazalet was appointed to the Board in 2008 
and became Chairman in 2009. He was managing 
director – corporate finance at JPMorgan Cazenove 
until his retirement in December 2007. A Chartered 
Accountant he joined Cazenove in 1973 and was made 
a Partner in 1978. From 1989 he worked in Corporate 
Finance and advised investment trusts in addition to 
his work with industrial and commercial companies. 
He is a director of Deltex Medical Group plc, Charles 
Taylor plc, Private Equity Investor plc and a number 
of charitable trusts.

Tim Curtis was appointed to the Board in 2004. He 
was chief executive of Zetex plc (formerly Telemetrix 
PLC), and is non-executive chairman of RaceCourse 
Technical Services Ltd. Former non-executive 
directorships were with IBS OPENSystems plc 
between 2005 and 2008, TVS Entertainment plc, 
Dobson Park Industries plc and Pace Micro Technology 
plc. Tim was previously a director of Unitech plc. 

Douglas McDougall, OBE was appointed to the Board 
in 2002 and is Chairman of the Audit Committee and 
the senior independent director. He has extensive 
experience in the fund management industry and is 
a former senior partner of Baillie Gifford & Co. He 
is chairman of The Law Debenture Corporation plc, 
The European Investment Trust plc, The Independent 
Investment Trust PLC and The Scottish Investment 
Trust PLC and is a director of The Monks Investment 
Trust PLC and Pacific Horizon Investment Trust PLC. 
He is a former chairman of IMRO, of the Association 
of Investment Companies and of the Fund Managers’ 
Association. 

Stewart Newton was appointed to the Board in 2012. 
He is chairman of Veritas Investment Management 
LLP and is non-executive director of Solon Ventures 
Limited. He was the founder and executive chairman 
of Newton Investment Management from 1977–2002. 
He also sits on the Investment Advisory Committee 
of The Wellcome Trust and is a Council Member 
at Imperial College, where he is chairman of the 
committee managing the College Fund. 

All Directors are members of the Audit Committee and 
of the Nomination Committee. 

DIReCtoRs, MAnAgeR AnD ADvIseRs 

secretary 
Baillie Gifford & Co 
Calton Square 
1 Greenside Row 
Edinburgh EH1 3AN
Tel: 0131 275 2000 

Registered office 
10–11 Charterhouse Square 
London EC1M 6EE 

Company number 
02879728 (England and Wales) 

Manager 
Herald Investment Trust plc is managed by Herald 
Investment Management Limited (‘HIML’). The 
senior director of HIML with prime responsibility 
for the management of Herald Investment Trust is 
Katie Potts. 

Katie Potts 
Herald Investment Management Limited 
10–11 Charterhouse Square 
London EC1M 6EE 
Tel: 020 7553 6300 
Fax: 020 7490 8026 
Website: www.heralduk.com 
E-mail: info@heralduk.com

Advisers 
Independent Auditors
Ernst & Young LLP
1 More London Place
London SE1 2AF

Stockbrokers
JP Morgan Cazenove Ltd
25 Bank Street
Canary Wharf
London E14 5JP

Bankers 
The Bank of  
New York Mellon 
One Piccadilly Gardens
Manchester M1 1RN

Solicitors 
Macfarlanes 
20 Cursitor Street 
London EC4A 1LT

N+1 Singer
One Bartholowmew 
Lane
London EC2N 2AX

Registrars 
Capita Registrars 
Northern House 
Woodsome Park 
Fenay Bridge 
Huddersfield HD8 0LA 
Tel: 0871 664 0300 
(calls cost 10p per minute plus network extras, lines are open 
8.30 am to 5.30 pm Monday–Friday) 
Website: www.capitaregistrars.com
E-mail: shareholder.services@capitaregistrars.com 
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CHAIRMAn’s stAteMent

In 2012 the NAV returned 12.3%. This is satisfactory in the context of returns made from the wider indices, 
and in particular the decision to remain heavily weighted in the UK, where smaller companies proved one 
of the strongest asset classes, was vindicated again. The UK portfolio delivered a total return of 18.0%, 
but the Numis Smaller companies Index returned 22.5%. In contrast the US portfolio returned only 1.4% 
(in £) compared with the Russell 2000 Technology Index rising 4.5%. In consequence the UK portfolio has 
now risen to the highest proportion of the equity portfolio this century at 70.9%, while the US portfolio 
has fallen to 20.9%. The European portfolio recovered by 17.5% (in £), but remains a modest weighting, 
while the Far East delivered a total return of 10.3%, including the Taiwan portfolio which returned 19.3%  
(in £) and the strongest component. 

The goal of the Company is to achieve real long term capital appreciation. It is worth observing that over 
the longer term the total returns are as follows: 

total return 1 year 3 years 5 years 10 years
Inception

(February 1994)

Herald Investment Trust  
(including dividends distributed) 12.3% 50.8% 61.8% 210.6% 557.6%

Numis Smaller Companies Index plus AIM  
(total return ex. investment companies) 22.5% 40.0% 18.3% 193.5% 261.2%

Russell 2000 (small cap) Technology Index  
(in sterling terms) 4.5% 35.3% 53.0% 133.4% –

The TMT sector (technology, media and telecoms) has continued to be exposed to an abnormally high 
degree of corporate activity, but supply and demand do appear to be more balanced. The IPO market 
remains virtually closed. Fourteen stocks in the portfolio were taken over with a total consideration of 
£26.8m, and four takeovers pending account for a further £9m. This takes the cumulative value of takeover 
bids to £218m over the last six years. In context that exceeds the net assets of the fund at the end of 
2008. In fact this year there were some significant takeovers in the larger capitalisation TMT stocks in the 
UK in which had grown out of the smaller market capitalisation remit of Herald Investment Trust (HIT) i.e 
Logica, Misys and Cable & Wireless Worldwide and Aegis. The equity market continues the long term 
trend of net equity withdrawal in the UK with takeovers exceeding IPOs by number and value. In 2012 
the number of fully listed companies fell 6.3% to 929, and the number of AIM listed companies fell by 
4.1% to 1,096 in 2012. The shortage of capital for equity investment continues to be particularly evident 
in the UK than anywhere else. The sharp decline of pension funds and insurance companies as owners of 
UK equities has unquestionably had a profoundly damaging effect on the UK technology sector. Above 
all the technology sector requires equity and not bank debt. The United States has over the last thirty 
years been the most professional and prolific market in providing equity both at the early venture stage, 
and through IPOs. That is why the US technology sector is so large and successful. In respect of the UK 
and indeed Europe as a whole, this is a failing of the regulatory environment, actuaries, accounting rules 
and the wider UK investment industry, which from the Herald perspective is damaging to both the sector 
and the economy. In particular the drive to minimise volatility and match assets and liabilities has driven 
asset allocation away from equities. However, at this time HIT continues to enjoy having some equity 
capital in a capital constrained environment, and it may well be that the sector has performed well in the 
UK as takeover proceeds have been recycled into other stocks in the sector. It may also be that the bulk 
of the asset reallocation is now behind us, and that the market will stop shrinking.

HIT has continued to support companies by participation in primary placings. Since inception it has raised 
£95m from shareholders (£65m in 1994 and £30m in 1996), and has subsequently bought back £31m 
so net outside capital has been £64m. In contrast it has participated in UK issues to £233m including 
£20m in 2012. The power of compounding is helpful in terms of scale, and it is fulfilling to see the 
Company’s investment enabling job creation and positive tax payments, as well as delivering profits to 
HIT’s shareholders.

A number of holdings delivered a return in excess of 100% in 2012 including Bango, Wandisco, Pace, 
IDOX, Mellanox and BSE. Takeovers in which the Company was not invested aside, the area of relative 
underperformance came from certain large holdings which have contributed strongly to outperformance 
in previous periods. In particular Imagination and SDL in the UK, and Ceva and Silicon Motion in the US 
fall into this camp. 



6

The consumerisation of technology continues apace. Developed markets are moving to 4G (fourth 
generation mobile phone), and less developed markets are buying smarter phones with internet access. 
The internet continues to be both disruptive and creative. Corporate IT departments are struggling to 
deliver to the performance of consumer devices, and security issues become ever more frightening. Data 
is being generated at an unprecedented rate, and there are ever more creative applications for applying 
this data. Although the sector is more appealing than the wider economy, there will continue to be both 
winners and losers, but overall interesting opportunities continue to emerge.

2012 has been another solid year in terms of corporate profitability albeit the growth rate has slowed 
to high single digits on average. At this stage a similar growth rate is anticipated in aggregate market 
forecasts for 2013. With fiscal tightening the fashion for Governments around the world the outlook for 
profits growth seems challenging, but the sector has resilient attractions, and continues to be creative 
and disruptive which may more than offset the economic challenges in share price terms.

There is a small income surplus as in previous years after expensing all costs. This enables the Board to 
recommend a 1.00p dividend (2011 – 1.00p). 

The Board has been considering how to address the Alternative Investment Fund Managers Directive. This 
requires the appointment of an Alternative Investment Fund Manager with separate functions for internal 
audit, risk management and compliance and certain other parameters. It also requires the appointment 
of a separate depositary. The Board currently appoints Herald Investment Management Ltd as fund 
manager. The fund administration, including fund accounting and secretarial, is undertaken independently 
by Baillie Gifford & Co with daily reconciliations between the manager and the administrator, and the 
administrator and independent custodian, providing a high level of investor protection and oversight. 
Furthermore, the Board is responsible for overseeing the Trust’s risks. 

The Board will endeavour to accommodate the Directive, while incurring the minimum additional cost, 
and without incurring too much additional risk associated with the likely complexity inherent in the AIFMD 
regime, and without too much distraction for the manager from the investment process. However, it will not 
be possible to avoid the costs of the independent depositary which are expected to be material in relation 
to the Company’s revenue account. The Board does not consider that the Directive is in the interests 
of shareholders and does not believe that it will provide any perceptible benefit to them. Investment 
trusts, which already comply with company law and the listing rules of the Stock Exchange, were not the 
original target of this proposed European Union law, but have regrettably been caught within its scope. 
The impact is particularly burdensome in the case of a successful specialist company such as Herald, 
which plays a valuable part in supplying scarce equity capital to young British technology companies.

The Company’s Articles of Association first gave shareholders the right to vote at the Annual General 
Meeting (AGM) on 14 April 2004 (and at AGMs to be held in every third year thereafter) as to whether 
the Company should continue to operate as an investment trust. Accordingly, an ordinary resolution, 
Resolution 10 in the Notice of Annual General Meeting, is being proposed at the AGM of the Company 
to be held on 23 April 2013 to the effect that the Company should continue as an investment trust. Herald 
Investment Trust is one of the largest investment trusts specialising in technology, communications 
and multi-media and is one of the best performing investment trusts since its launch in February 1994. 
Furthermore it is the only specialist technology orientated investment trust with a material exposure 
to the United Kingdom. The Herald Board believes that the focus of the Trust on smaller capitalisation 
companies provides exposure to some of the most rapidly growing companies within the Trust’s target 
sectors and should continue to provide attractive long term investment opportunities. The Directors 
believe that the prospects for investment in the technology and media sectors remain positive and the 
Company is managed by one of the most experienced and successful managers in the sector. Your Board 
strongly recommends that shareholders vote in favour of the resolution. the Directors 
intend to vote their own shareholdings in favour of the resolution for the Company to 
continue as an investment trust.

Julian Cazalet 
Chairman 
27 February 2013

CHAIRMAn’s stAteMent continued



HERALD INVESTMENT TRUST plc           7

InvestMent MAnAgeR’s RePoRt

2012 has been a more challenging year for the global TMT sector. One of the cornerstone markets, 
the PC, has seen steady downward revisions, as the tablet and the economy has eroded demand 
for notebooks. According to IDC, volumes declined 3.2% to c350m in 2012. There are some high 
profile large companies that have been challenged such as Nokia and RIM which fell with the rise of 
the iPhone, and look-a-likes from Samsung in 2011. 2012 was the year when the iPad and its clones 
rocked the PC market. HP and Dell are high profile casualties, but the less visible supply chain in 
Asia has also had a tough time. Meanwhile a sluggish economy has reduced demand for office fit 
outs, and corporate IT budgets have been constrained. Against this background the UK sector has 
done remarkably well, and European companies have bounced after a poor year in 2011. In part this 
reflects the fact that Europe no longer has a manufacturing sector, and this price sensitive/volume 
sensitive market is now in Asia. The UK sector has been more service led and IP or design oriented. 
Meanwhile the smartphone market is still showing good volume growth, and internet usage growth 
continues unabated. Additional competition in the tablet market followed the launch of new Kindle 
devices from Amazon, a new Nexus product from Google, and the Surface from Microsoft. Different 
regions have different characteristics.

UK
The UK portfolio remains the most important within the Company, and now accounts for over 70% 
of the equity portfolio. The total return for Herald’s UK portfolio was 18% versus the Numis Smaller 
Companies Index extended to include AIM returning 22.5%. Although over the long term Herald 
Investment Trust has dramatically outperformed the Numis Index there have been years when 
the UK return has lagged. This is the first year when it has lagged when the relevant sectors have 
outperformed the Index. The reasons for the underperformance are as follows:

1) Poor share price performance of the two largest investments Imagination and SDL. In declining 
25% and 23.5% respectively these effectively accounted for half the underperformance. Material 
profits have already been realised on these investments, which have been outstanding over the 
last decade. At the start of 2012 the Imagination holding had been reduced from over 15m shares 
to less than 5m, and SDL reduced somewhat less. In spite of the poor performance in 2012 these 
companies had a realised and unrealised profit of £62m on a maximum invested value of £8.2m.

2) Certain large stocks that performed particularly well which were not owned by HIT and peripheral 
to the defined remit. Firstly Renishaw (+111%), which is a company that I knew well pre Herald 
as analyst at its corporate advisor. I have great respect for the way they have built the business, 
but have not perceived it to be in the TMT defined remit in which we invest. Secondly TalkTalk 
(+81%) which was previously in the retail sector.

3) Certain stocks which we ought to have owned – Oxford Instruments and Dialight and possibly 
Perform. Other stocks such as Johnston Press, Trinity Mirror, Pace, CSR and Wolfson have 
bounced strongly. We have benefited from being underweight or not owning them in the past, 
but in consequence have had modest positions for the rally.

4) The weighted return of AIM stocks in the target sector is far lower, and the portfolio is skewed 
to these smaller companies.

Over the long term the UK has performed well, and compounded in capital terms since 1994 at c14%. 
We do not have a formal benchmark, and in any one accounting period divergences are inevitable. 
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Us
The US market performed much less well than the UK. In sterling, the Russell 2000 Technology 
Index rose 4.5%, and the large cap Russell 1000 index returned 7.4%. 

The star performer was Mellanox, which appreciated 116% ($10.4m rise). They are market leader in 
Infiniband which has been adopted more widely since Intel launched the Romley server processors 
for high speed datacentre connections. The share price peaked at $120 in September. Abovenet, 
Standard Microsystems, Retalix and MIPS have all performed on takeover offers, albeit Retalix and 
MIPS have yet to complete.

Offsetting this Ceva and Silicon Motion have been particularly poor performers declining 48% and 
28% respectively (in $), both of which had been star performers in previous years. In 2011 Silicon 
Motion had risen 341% (in $). In addition there were lacklustre performances from holdings such 
as Advent Software, Websense and Pegasystems.

The US portfolio has been derated this year, and stands at a modest 10% premium to the UK portfolio 
in p/e terms on 2013 numbers, which is the smallest premium in HIT’s history. The US sector is 
strong, and the economy will benefit from cheap domestically produced energy. 

europe
The European portfolio is small, but rallied 20% in local currency or 17.5% in £. 

Far east
The Far East portfolio has delivered a £ return of 10.3%. Taiwan returned 19.3%, and Korea returned 
8.2%. Companies domiciled in these two countries account for the majority of the Far East portfolio. 
The Far East is now significant in terms of number of companies, but we have struggled to find 
companies with pricing power, and a structure which will respect outside shareholders. We have 
watched the feeding frenzy of mindless money invest as they did in TMT in the UK and US in  
1999–2000, and to a lesser extent in the AIM market in 2005–2006. It seems probable that there 
will be some worthwhile investments as we have found post bubble in the UK. Regrettably that 
legal environment is much less developed than in the UK or the US. We have purposefully targeted 
resource in this area, which has thus far been productively deployed to keep us out of trouble. 

the Addressable Market
Ultimately we invest in companies, not a concept. We have expressed our concern for a number 
of years about the proliferation of takeovers in the UK in particular. The numbers are stark, and it is 
now inevitable that the UK will fall as a percentage of the portfolio, but we have enjoyed the harvest. 
A screen of stocks in the technology and media sectors as defined by Bloomberg is summarised in 
the table below.

number of quoted companies with market capitalisation <£1bn >£30m

sector UK
W 

europe
n 

America Asia Dev
Asia 

emerging World

Technology 64 183 353 667 283 1,635

Media 30 64 76 131 75 421

Electronic & Electrical Equipment 18 78 90 441 278 943

total 112 325 519 1,239 636 2,999

Source: Bloomberg 31/12/2012

InvestMent MAnAgeR’s RePoRt continued
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InvestMent MAnAgeR’s RePoRt continued

Prior to the financial crisis there were as many companies in the UK as the rest of Europe put together. 
That reflected a bigger investment sector, and heavy investing by pension funds and insurance 
companies in smaller early stage companies as well as entrepreneurialism and creativity. We have 
migrated to the European model of no new equity, or worse equity withdrawal, but remained with the 
Anglo-Saxon openness with regard to take-overs hence the dramatic contraction. The list is not the 
entire investable orbit for two reasons. Firstly we do invest in companies with a market capitalisation 
below £30m, and eliminating the £30m market capitalisation floor changes the numbers as shown 
in the table below. Secondly a number of companies classified within support services, electrical 
and electronic equipment and industrials are also in the remit, but for illustrative purposes this table 
highlights how small the UK quoted sector has become in a global context.

number of quoted companies with market capitalisation <£1bn

sector UK
W 

europe
n 

America Asia Dev
Asia 

emerging World

Technology 140 521 1,075 1,369 666 4,174

Media 80 195 354 228 185 1,222

Electronic & Electrical Equipment 46 162 342 863 448 2,082

total 266 878 1,771 2,460 1,299 7,478

number of quoted companies with market capitalisation >£1bn

sector UK
W 

europe
n 

America Asia Dev
Asia 

emerging World

Technology 7 18 137 64 23 258

Media 11 24 38 14 13 112

Electronic & Electrical Equipment 3 6 29 34 14 88

total 21 48 204 112 50 458

Source: Bloomberg 31/12/2012

The TMT sector targeted remains dynamic, and we shall continue to be vigilant in targeting value in 
any geographic market. However, the UK and US remain preferred locations for the reliable auditing 
and minority protections. The US is the best environment for companies to scale to address the 
largest markets, but has inefficiencies in the smaller companies market, and is rather too efficient 
in larger companies’ valuations. Unlike the UK there is no system of house brokers to promote 
companies. The micro-cap market in the US and UK seems to be where value lies, and to find the 
same value in Asia and Europe requires greater selectivity. I draw attention to the fact that there are 
only 25 companies in Europe including the UK in the Bloomberg defined technology sector with a 
market value exceeding £1bn. This list includes a number of depressingly challenged companies 
such as Nokia, Alcatel Lucent, STMicro and Infineon. The UK boasts companies with momentum 
such as ARM, Imagination and Aveva, Germany has SAP and the Netherlands ASML and ASM. In 
contrast the US has companies with an order of magnitude greater in scale such as Apple, Google, 
Qualcomm, Intel, Microsoft and IBM. While we continue to find value in smaller UK and European 
companies, Europe really is marginal in terms of larger capitalisation technology companies, because 
at the year end there were 137 US technology companies with a market value exceeding £1bn. 
The Japanese technology sector is in poor shape. We have elected not to invest in Japan because 
there do not appear to be sufficient opportunities to justify the required resource. There is a paucity 
of entrepreneurialism, and the big companies are challenged. Elpida, Sharp, Panasonic and Sony 
have had particularly challenging years. The TV market has moved to Korea, and the computer 
games consoles have had a terrible Christmas as smart phones take the spending $. Korea has 
an extraordinarily strong company in Samsung and LG is not far behind. Taiwan has TSMC, and a 
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number of challenged companies in the PC supply chain. China has many jobs, but few with pricing 
power. Furthermore, China is ceasing to be a low cost manufacturer. With increased automation 
and component integration the labour cost is low versus import tariffs into the US and Europe. It 
seems probable that there will be selective repatriation of manufacturing to the US. They own the 
companies with brands, innovation and low energy costs. Apple have already announced a modest 
initiative to build Macs in the US.

In a global economy beset by Government deficits the spotlight is on companies with subnormal tax 
charges. The technology sector in particular has the ability to move IP and manufacturing around the 
world with its global supply chain. Many of the large companies have significant offshore earnings 
with low tax charges, but are not repatriating profits to the US because they face 35% Federal tax 
charges, and state taxes on top. It has to be a major consideration on Capitol Hill to adjust these 
taxes. It is anomalous that the tax system is incentivising Apple to fund the capital investment of its 
supply chain in the Far East rather than repatriating profits to invest at home. The US Government 
may consider charging companies a reduced tax of say 10% on foreign earnings, but then permit 
repatriation. This tax anomaly has been an additional reason why so many UK companies have been 
acquired by US companies who have cash offshore not worth face value.

The Company continues to have a £50m loan facility and an associated interest swap, which continues 
to trade at a similar loss as a year ago. Whilst we value the flexibility, and have benefited from the use 
of the capital that the facility affords clearly the timing of the swap was ill-judged. After consideration 
it seems appropriate to continue the position.

summary
2012 has been adequate, but could have been better. The five year performance is good. The 
outlook for 2013 remains uncertain, but from the perspective of the sectors targeted by Herald the 
US seems to be better placed to address its economic issues than elsewhere. There remains more 
value in microcaps, but the ability for companies to grow profits appears to be more challenging than 
it has been. The UK portfolio seems likely to decline as a percentage of the whole. While a degree 
of caution seems rational it remains a mandate that seems to have attractions relative to most other 
asset classes. We continue with enthusiasm.

InvestMent MAnAgeR’s RePoRt continued
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InvestMent MAnAgeR’s RePoRt continued

Performance Attribution (in sterling terms)

equity markets

Comparative
index

allocation
01.01.12

%

Comparative
index

allocation
31.12.12

%

Herald 
asset

allocation
01.01.12

%

Herald 
asset

allocation
31.12.12

%

Performance*
Herald

%

Performance*
Comparative

index
%

Contribution 
to relative

return
%

Contribution 
attributable 

to stock
selection

%

Contribution 
attributable

to asset
allocation†

%

UK 66.7 66.7 68.6 72.2 18.0 22.4 (2.4) (2.5) 0.1

Europe ex. UK – – 2.1 2.5 17.5 – – – –

USA 33.3 33.3 25.0 21.3 1.4 4.5 0.5 (0.5) 1.0

Asia Pacific ex. Japan – – 6.9 5.6 10.3 – (0.3) – (0.3)

Emerging Markets – – 0.4 0.4 13.4 – – – –

Bonds – – 5.8 6.4 5.0 – (0.6) – (0.6)

Cash – – 6.8 5.6 0.3 – (1.1) – (1.1)

Swap – – (4.5) (4.0) n/a – 0.3 – 0.3

Loans – – (11.1) (10.0) 2.1 – 1.4 – 1.4

Total 100.0 100.0 100.0 100.0 13.5 16.3 (2.4) (3.1) 0.7

Past performance is not a guide to future performance. 
Source: HSBC 
* The above returns are calculated on a total return basis with net income reinvested. Dividends and interest are reinvested on a cash basis, unlike the NAV 

calculation where income is recognised on an accruals basis. Relative performance may differ as a result. 
 Contributions cannot be added together, as they are geometric; for example, to calculate how a return of 13.5% against a comparative index return of 

16.3% translates into a relative return of (2.4%), divide the portfolio return of 113.5 by the comparative index return of 116.3 and subtract one. 

† Asset allocation includes the contribution attributable to currency movements. 

Katie Potts
27 February 2013 

Investment Changes (£’000)
valuation at

31 December
2011

net
acquisitions/

(disposals)
Appreciation/
(depreciation)

valuation at
31 December

2012

Equities*

UK 307,845 5,478 48,610 361,933

Continental Europe 9,306 1,858 1,443 12,607

USA 112,370 (7,264) 1,672 106,778

Asia Pacific 30,944 (5,589) 2,448 27,803

Emerging Markets 1,988 (67) 269 2,190

Total equities 462,453 (5,584) 54,442 511,311

Bonds:

UK bonds 16,445 1,357 14 17,816

Euro bonds 9,791 4,179 45 14,015

Total bonds 26,236 5,536 59 31,831

Total investments 488,689 (48) 54,501 543,142

Net liquid assets 30,967 (1,827) (39) 29,101

Total assets 519,656 (1,875) 54,462 572,243

The total assets figure above comprises assets less current liabilities before deduction of bank loans and derivative financial instruments. 
* Equities includes convertibles and warrants.
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toP tWentY eQUItY HoLDIngs 
AT 31 DECEMBER 2012

A brief description of the twenty largest equity holdings in companies is as follows: 

Imagination Technologies
Imagination Technologies is an international leader in the creation and licensing of semiconductor 
System-on-Chip Intellectual Property (SoC IP). Imagination creates market-leading embedded 
graphics, video and display acceleration, multi-threaded processing and multi-standard receiver 
technologies and licenses this IP (Intellectual Property) to global semiconductor and system 
companies. These technologies are used for systems-on-chip (SoC) in the following markets: 
digital radio and audio, mobile phone, handheld multimedia, personal media player, car 
navigation and driver information, personal navigation, mobile computing, digital TV and set-top 
box and mobile TV. Imagination has been particularly successful in selling graphics technology to 
the mobile phone and LCD TV sectors and is a pioneer in developing Digital Audio Broadcasting 
Technology (DAB). Imagination Technology incorporates this technology in its “Pure Digital” 
radio brand, which is the number one supplier of radios in the UK. The adoption of digital radio 
in other countries, France and Germany in particular, is opening up a bigger international market 
and they have launched an internet radio range for the US market. The group has a highly skilled 
workforce of around 1,200 people, of which over 80% are R&D engineers. Apple and Intel are 
both investors in Imagination Technologies.

Country  United Kingdom 
% of total assets  3.4 
 31/12/12 31/12/11
Valuation (£m) 19.55  27.73 
Shares (m) 4.96  5.05

Telecom Plus
Telecom Plus, which owns and operates the Utility Warehouse brand, is the UK’s only fully 
integrated provider of a wide range of competitively priced utility services, spanning both 
the communications and energy markets. Telecom Plus supplies fixed wire and mobile 
telecommunications services, gas and electricity to over 405,000 residential and small business 
customers in the United Kingdom with a unified bill and good value utilities. Telecom Plus 
was incorporated in 1996 and began operations in 1997 providing a unique range of low-cost 
telephony services to the residential and SOHO markets. They use the collective buying power 
of individual users to negotiate bulk buying deals with major suppliers, passing the benefit back 
to their customers. Telecom Plus does not advertise and has no shops. Instead, they rely on 
word of mouth recommendations from satisfied customers and from a network of Independent 
Distributors.

Country  United Kingdom 
% of total assets  2.7
 31/12/12 31/12/11
Valuation (£m) 15.19  14.52
Shares (m) 1.65  1.89

IDOX
IDOX plc is a supplier of software solutions and services to the UK public sector and increasingly 
to highly regulated asset intensive industries around the world in the wider corporate sector. 
The Public Sector Software Division is a major supplier of software solutions and managed 
services to the public sector and is the leading applications provider to local government for 
core functions relating to land, people and property. Over 90% of UK local authorities are 
customers for document and case management solutions, workflow systems, content and 
related Web-based portals. The IDOX Engineering Information Management Division is a 
leading supplier of engineering document management and control solutions to asset intensive 
industry sectors. Operating under the McLaren Software brand the division supplies solutions 
to leading international oil & gas, energy & utilities, manufacturing, life sciences, transportation 
and natural resources companies.

Country  United Kingdom 
% of total assets  2.6
% of issued share capital held  8.1 
 31/12/12 31/12/11
Valuation (£m) 15.01  7.28 
Shares (m) 28.32  30.32

SDL
SDL is the leader in Global Information Management (GIM) solutions that help organisations 
to accelerate the delivery of high-quality multilingual content to global markets alongside 
their products and services. SDL’s best-of-breed Web Content Management, eCommerce, 
Structured Content and Language Technologies, combined with its Language Services drive 
down the cost of content creation, management, translation and publishing. SDL solutions 
increase conversion ratios and customer satisfaction through targeted information across all 
customer touch points. SDL has over 1,500 enterprise customers, has deployed over 185,000 
software licenses and has a global infrastructure of more than 70 offices in 38 countries. SDL is 
in Gartner’s leader quadrant for web content management.

Country  United Kingdom 
% of total assets  2.6
% of issued share capital held 3.7

 31/12/12 31/12/11
Valuation (£m) 14.89  19.70 
Shares (m) 2.95 2.98

Diploma
Diploma is a group of specialised distribution businesses serving industries with long term 
growth potential and with the opportunity for sustainable superior margins through the quality 
of customer service, depth of technical support and value-adding activities. The three sectors 
the company focuses on are life sciences, seals and controls.

Country  United Kingdom 
% of total assets  2.2
 31/12/12 31/12/11
Valuation (£m) 12.80 8.00
Shares (m) 2.35 2.35

Phoenix IT Group
Phoenix IT was established in 1980, the Group provides a growing range of complementary 
IT infrastructure support services including systems management, communications, remote 
telephone support, high-touch field services, project and consultancy services as well as 
business continuity and disaster recovery services. Often these services are sold and delivered 
as a managed service where Phoenix manages complex IT infrastructures to agreed levels of 
service under long term contracts. In May 2007 Phoenix acquired ICM for £130m in cash and 
shares, ICM had been a portfolio holding since 2002.

Country  United Kingdom 
% of total assets  2.2
% of issued share capital held 9.2

 31/12/12 31/12/11
Valuation (£m) 12.42 8.80
Shares (m) 6.93 5.58
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toP tWentY eQUItY HoLDIngs continued 
AT 31 DECEMBER 2012

OpSec Security
OpSec provides solutions to combat counterfeiting and the related problems of diversion, grey 
marketing, online brand abuse and fraud. It provides anti-counterfeiting technologies, services 
and software to over 300 global brands across industry sectors and over 50 governments 
worldwide. The Group operates manufacturing facilities and laboratories in the USA and the UK, 
and has sales operations in the Americas, Europe and Asia. OpSec supplies technologies and 
solutions into three core markets: Banknote and High Security Documents; Brand Protection; 
and ID Solutions.

Country  United Kingdom 
% of total assets  1.7
% of issued share capital held 23.6

 31/12/12 31/12/11
Valuation (£m) 9.93 9.71
Shares (m) 23.65 18.68

Bango
Founded in 1999 to capitalise on the growth in the number of mobile phones and the arrival of 
the internet on these devices. Bango powers payment and analytics on the mobile web, providing 
users with a smooth payment experience. Bango powers mobile payments for leading app stores, 
brands, publishers and developers across all devices, networks and connections worldwide. 
Bango powers mobile analytics for leading content publishers and mobile marketers providing 
the most accurate measurement of mobile visitors and marketing campaigns. Bango’s pervasive 
presence across the web creates a platform effect for partners, identifying hundreds of millions 
of users and maximizing the number of one-click payments. Customers include Facebook, 
BlackBerry App World, Windows Phone Store, Amazon and major mobile brands including 
CNN, Cartoon Network and EA Mobile.

Country  United Kingdom 
% of total assets  1.7
% of issued share capital held 12.4

 31/12/12 31/12/11
Valuation (£m) 9.61 3.18
Shares (m) 5.16 4.82

Wilmington Group
Wilmington’s businesses enable professionals and their organisations to perform better by 
providing quality, relevant and reliable information, education and knowledge to professional 
markets. Activities are segmented into six business divisions: Legal, Banking & Compliance, 
Pensions & Insurance, Healthcare, Business Intelligence and Accountancy.

Country  United Kingdom 
% of total assets  1.6
% of issued share capital held 7.3

 31/12/12 31/12/11
Valuation (£m) 9.40 4.21
Shares (m) 6.22 5.13

M&C Saatchi
M&C Saatchi is a global marketing services business working for clients across a wide variety 
of industry sectors. The Company was founded in 1995. Starting with a strong base in the UK 
and Australia, M&C Saatchi have added new agencies and disciplines in Asia, USA and Europe. 
M&C Saatchi currently has 26 offices in 18 countries.

Country  United Kingdom 
% of total assets  1.6
% of issued share capital held 8.1

 31/12/12 31/12/11
Valuation (£m) 9.06 5.92
Shares (m) 5.15 5.15

Euromoney Institutional Investor
The group publishes more than 70 titles in both print and online format, including Euromoney 
Institutional Investor and Metal Bulletin, and is a leading provider of electronic research and data 
under the BCA Research, Ned Davis Research and ISI Emerging Markets brands. It also runs 
an extensive portfolio of conferences, seminars and training courses for financial markets. The 
group’s main offices are in London, New York, Montreal and Hong Kong and more than a third 
of its revenues are derived from emerging markets.

Country  United Kingdom 
% of total assets  1.5
 31/12/12 31/12/11
Valuation (£m) 8.64 6.56
Shares (m) 1.00 1.05

ATMI
ATMI Inc. is a supplier of materials, materials packaging and materials delivery systems used 
globally in the manufacture of microelectronics devices. The company’s products consist 
of front-end semiconductor performance materials, sub-atmospheric pressure gas delivery 
systems for safe handling and delivery of toxic and hazardous gases and materials packaging 
and dispensing systems. ATMI serves and provides applications and analytical support services 
to three markets: semiconductors, flat-panel displays and life sciences. ATMI is devoted to 
constantly improving microelectronic and life science manufacturing technologies, helping them 
drive these industries forward.

Country  USA 
% of total assets  1.3
 31/12/12 31/12/11
Valuation (£m) 7.70 7.73
Shares (m) 0.60 0.60

IQE
IQE is one of the leading suppliers of semiconductor wafer products for wireless and 
optoelectronic components, photovoltaics and silicon based epitaxy. Customers are supplied 
with process optimized, cost effective, world-class wafers from any one of IQE’s worldwide 
manufacturing sites. Contract wafer manufacturing is a fundamental business strategy for 
an ever-increasing number of compound semiconductor device manufacturers. The epitaxy 
process is one of the most critical and expensive parts of the manufacturing chain. IQE possesses 
the largest independent manufacturing capacity worldwide, IQE are able to achieve enhanced 
economies of scale that no other merchant epiwafer manufacturer can realise and few in-house 
capabilities can match.

Country  United Kingdom 
% of total assets  1.3
% of issued share capital held 4.3

 31/12/12 31/12/11
Valuation (£m) 7.59 3.77
Shares (m) 25.08 20.64
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toP tWentY eQUItY HoLDIngs continued 
AT 31 DECEMBER 2012

NCC Group
As a trusted adviser, NCC Group provides business critical IT assurance and protection to over 
15,000 organisations worldwide, including 94 out of the FTSE 100. The Group operates two main 
complementary divisions, Escrow and Assurance: Escrow, includes ensuring source code, data 
or other business critical material is protected and accessible should anything happen to a key 
supplier. Furthermore NCC confirm the material held is properly protected by verifying that it 
can be rebuilt from its source code components. Assurance, incorporates expert led security 
testing, covering forensics, vulnerability research and the development of expert software to 
aid organisations in their on-going battle with information security breaches.

Country  United Kingdom 
% of total assets  1.3
 31/12/12 31/12/11
Valuation (£m) 7.30 10.05
Shares (m) 4.80 1.21

StatPro Group
StatPro has been in the business of portfolio analytics since 1994, has over 300 clients across 25 
countries and around 250 staff globally. StatPro provides detailed portfolio analytics products 
for the front and middle offices of portfolio managers, enabling portfolio risk measurement, 
attribution and reporting. StatPro has comprehensive data coverage of over 500,000 assets 
including an ever increasing number of securities, covering global markets including evaluated 
bond prices. StatPro has developed a cloud computing version of it software - StatPro Revolution.

Country  United Kingdom 
% of total assets  1.3
% of issued share capital held 11.2
 31/12/12 31/12/11
Valuation (£m) 7.18 5.92
Shares (m) 7.56 6.88

GB Group
GB Group, the UK’s leading identity management business, helps organisations realise the full 
value of their customer base by recognising and verifying all elements of a consumer’s identity 
at every interaction. Through the application of technology, GB Group protects, predicts and 
provides information that is used to maximise customer value for some of the largest companies in 
the UK. The company provides an integrated and comprehensive range of data services to clients 
allowing them to interact effectively with their customers, improve long term profitability and 
reduce fraud. GB Group has four complementary identity management offerings: ID Verification, 
ID Customer Registration, ID Engagement and ID Tracing Services.

Country  United Kingdom 
% of total assets  1.2
% of issued share capital held 6.9

 31/12/12 31/12/11
Valuation (£m) 6.77 3.72
Shares (m) 7.52 7.92

Allocate Software
Allocate Software plc is a global workforce and corporate governance software solutions 
provider for organisations with large, multi-skilled workforces. With a blue chip client base 
spanning the public and private sector, its key vertical markets include healthcare, defence and 
maritime offshore oil and gas. At the core of the business is Allocate’s workforce optimisation 
software, which streamlines the whole workforce management of multi disciplinary groups, 
across diverse locations. Headquartered in London, it employs around 300 people providing 
services and support to its increasing international customer base through regional offices in the 
UK, Australia, Malaysia, Sweden and the USA.

Country  United Kingdom 
% of total assets  1.2
% of issued share capital held 13.4

 31/12/12 31/12/11
Valuation (£m) 6.67 6.58
Shares (m) 8.55 8.55

Mellanox Technologies
Mellanox is a leading supplier of end-to-end InfiniBand and Ethernet interconnect solutions 
and services for servers and storage. Mellanox interconnect solutions increase data center 
efficiency by providing the highest throughput and lowest latency, delivering data faster to 
applications and unlocking system performance capability. Mellanox offers a choice of fast 
interconnect products: adapters, switches, software and silicon that accelerate application 
runtime and maximize business results for a wide range of markets including high performance 
computing, enterprise data centers, Web 2.0, cloud, storage and financial services. Founded in 
1999, Mellanox Technologies is headquartered in Sunnyvale, California and Yokneam, Israel.

Country  USA 
% of total assets  1.1
 31/12/12 31/12/11
Valuation (£m) 6.52 5.77
Shares (m) 0.18 0.28

Advent Software
Advent supplies investment management companies with integrated software products and 
services in portfolio administration, including workflows within the managers and external 
portfolio reporting. Each solution focuses on specific mission-critical functions of the front, 
middle and back offices and is designed to meet the needs of the particular client, as determined 
by size, assets under management and complexity of the investment environment. With more 
than 4,500 client firms in 60 countries, Advent has established itself as a leading provider of 
mission-critical applications to meet the demands of investment management operations around 
the world. It has adopted a rental model.

Country  USA 
% of total assets  1.1
 31/12/12 31/12/11
Valuation (£m) 6.31 7.52
Shares (m) 0.48 0.48

Silicon Motion Technology
Established in 1995, Silicon Motion Technology designs, is a fabless semiconductor company 
which develops and markets high performance, low-power semiconductor solutions for 
multimedia consumer electronics applications, such as smartphones, digital cameras, 
notebook and tablet PCs and personal navigation devices. It has three product lines: mobile 
storage, multimedia systems-on-a-chip (SoC) for embedded graphics applications and mobile 
communications. Silicon Motion Technology is often at the forefront of microcontroller and 
NAND flash storage devices, with their products being used in many of the leading smartphone 
and mobile devices. The Company’s mobile communications product line consists of mobile 
television integrated circuit solutions and handset transceiver circuits. Its embedded graphics 
processors are generally used to render text, or two-dimensional graphics and user interfaces.

Country  USA 
% of total assets  1.1
 31/12/12 31/12/11
Valuation (£m) 6.12 9.86
Shares (m) 0.70 0.75

Note: A figure is presented for % issued share capital held only if greater than 3%.
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CLAssIFICAtIon oF InvestMents

Classification
UK
%

Continental
europe

%
UsA

%

Asia
Pacific

%

emerging
Markets

%

2012
total

%

2011
total

%

eQUItIes: 
(including convertibles and warrants)

oIL & gAs 0.3 – – – – 0.3 0.3
Oil equipment services and distribution 0.3 – – – – 0.3 0.3
BAsIC MAteRIALs – – – 0.6 – 0.6 0.7
Chemicals – – – 0.6 – 0.6 0.7
InDUstRIALs 10.1 0.3 – 1.5 – 11.9 11.6
Aerospace and defence 0.3 – – – – 0.3 0.3
Electronic and electrical equipment 1.9 – – 1.4 – 3.3 4.2
Support services 7.9 0.3 – 0.1 – 8.3 7.1
ConsUMeR gooDs 0.2 – – – – 0.2 0.1
Household goods and home construction 0.2 – – – – 0.2 0.1
HeALtH CARe 0.7 – – – – 0.7 1.1
Health care equipment and services 0.7 – – – – 0.7 0.7
Pharmaceuticals and biotechnology – – – – – – 0.4
ConsUMeR seRvICes 10.6 0.1 – 0.1 – 10.8 8.1
Media 10.6 0.1 – 0.1 – 10.8 8.1
teLeCoMMUnICAtIons 3.7 – – 0.1 – 3.8 5.1
Fixed line telecommunications 3.7 – – – – 3.7 4.9
Mobile telecommunications – – – 0.1 – 0.1 0.2
FInAnCIALs 1.0 – – – – 1.0 0.9
Financial services 0.5 – – – – 0.5 0.5
Equity investment instruments 0.5 – – – – 0.5 0.4
teCHnoLogY 36.6 1.8 18.6 2.6 0.4 60.0 61.1
Software and computer services 27.2 1.0 7.6 0.5 0.4 36.7 35.7
Technology hardware and equipment 9.4 0.8 11.0 2.1 – 23.3 25.4

totAL eQUItIes 
(including convertibles and warrants)

63.2 2.2 18.6 4.9 0.4 89.3

Total equities – 2011
(including convertibles and warrants)

59.2 1.8 21.6 6.0 0.4 89.0

BonDs 3.1 2.5 – – – 5.6 5.0
net LIQUID Assets 3.9 0.1 – 1.1 – 5.1 6.0

totAL Assets 70.2 4.8 18.6 6.0 0.4 100.0
(before deduction of bank loans and derivative 
financial instruments)
Total assets – 2011 67.9 3.8 21.6 6.3 0.4 100.0
BAnK LoAns (8.7) – – – – (8.7) (9.6)
DeRIvAtIve FInAnCIAL 
InstRUMents (3.6) – – – – (3.6) (3.9)

sHAReHoLDeRs’ FUnDs 57.9 4.8 18.6 6.0 0.4 87.7
Shareholders’ funds – 2011 54.4 3.8 21.6 6.3 0.4 86.5

Number of equity investments 
(including convertibles and warrants)

132 15 50 38 1 236 245

geogRAPHICAL sPReAD oF InvestMents
31 December 2012 31 December 2011

Continental
Europe 3.7%

UK 62.3%

USA
21.6%

Net Liquid Assets 6.0%Asia Pacific 6.0%

Emerging Markets 0.4%

Continental
Europe 4.7%

UK 66.3%

USA
18.6%

Net Liquid Assets 5.1%Asia Pacific 4.9%

Emerging Markets 0.4%
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DetAILeD LIst oF InvestMents
AT 31 DECEMBER 2012

Classification name
value
£’000 %

UnIteD KIngDoM
Oil equipment, services
 and distribution * KBC Advanced Technologies  1,528 0.3
Alternative energy * ITM Power 287 –
Aerospace and defence * Cohort  1,637  0.3 
Electronic and electrical equipment * Andor Technology 3,657

e2v Technologies 2,306
* Gooch and Housego 1,217

Hiwave Technology 241
† Intelligent Energy –
* Microsaic Systems 513
* RCG Holdings 26

Volex 920
Xaar 1,432
XP Power 801

11,113  1.9 
Support services Acal 2,403

* Digital Barriers 5,164
Diploma 12,795
Electrocomponents 5,127

† Freshwater UK  – 
Harvey Nash 599

* Maintel 2,546
* OpSec Security 9,934
* Planet Payment 2,002
* Sagentia 910
* Spectra Systems 325

St Ives 1,101
* Synectics 904
* Tangent Communications 1,382

45,192  7.9 
Household goods and  
 home construction * PhotonStar LED Group 892 0.2
Leisure goods * Zattikka 272 –
Health care equipment and services * Deltex Medical 2,161

* Sphere Medical 1,865
4,026  0.7 

Media * Avesco 4,359
Bloomsbury Publishing 1,763

* Brainjuicer 1,505
Centaur Media 713
Chime Communications 2,808

* Ebiquity 3,564
Euromoney Institutional Investor 8,640
Future 1,356

* M&C Saatchi 9,064
* Media Corporation 17
* Next Fifteen Communications 5,311
* Parallel Media Group 230
* Phorm 375
* Porta Communications 77
* Progressive Digital Media Group 984

Quarto Group 2,294
* Reach 4 Entertainment 366
* Ten Alps 2,097
* The Mission Marketing Group 1,260

Trinity Mirror 1,983
* UBC Media Group 143
* Weare 2020 118

Wilmington Group 9,399
* Yougov 2,154

60,580 10.6
Fixed line telecommunications * Alternative Networks 6,017

Telecom Plus 15,188
21,205 3.7
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DetAILeD LIst oF InvestMents continued 

AT 31 DECEMBER 2012

Classification name
value
£’000 %

UnIteD KIngDoM (continued)
Mobile telecommunications * 2 Ergo Group Plc 61 –
Financial services * Imperial Innovations 1,666

IP Group 1,269
2,935  0.5 

Equity investment instruments † Herald Ventures II 1,722
† HIML Holdings Limited 1,450

3,172 0.5
Software and computer services * @UK 508
 * Active Risk Group 500

* Allocate Software 6,669
* Artilium 974
* Bango 9,607
* Blur 312
* Brady 5,172
† Business Control Solutions 325
† Celoxica Holdings – 
* Coms 31
* Corero 1,179
* Craneware 2,528
† Dealogic 1,690
* Delcam 2,719
* Dillistone 1,290
* Dotdigital 1,713
* Earthport 982
* Eckoh Technologies 2,543

Electronic Data Processing 1,004
* Endace 3,135
* Eservglobal 1,287
* Ffastfill 6,006

Fidessa 3,586
* First Derivatives 1,071
* Fusionex International 866
* GB Group 6,767
* Globo 845

Gresham Computing 2,760
* IDOX 15,008
* Imaginatik 250

Innovation 1,912
* Intercede 1,435

*†# INVU 31
* IS Solutions 300
* K3 Business Technology 1,800

Kofax 6,069
* Lombard Risk Management 817

Microgen 3,030
NCC Group 7,296

* Netcall 1,058
* OMG 2,297

Parity 251
Phoenix IT Group 12,418

* Redstone Telecom 892
* Scisys 1,512

SDL 14,889
*†# Servicepower Technologies 862

* Silanis International 436
* Simigon 687

¶*† SocialGO 35
* SQS Software Quality Systems 5,048
* StatPro Group 7,180
* Tikit 574
* Wandisco 1,933

 *†# Zoo Digital 1,372
 155,461  27.2 
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DetAILeD LIst oF InvestMents continued 

AT 31 DECEMBER 2012

Classification name
value
£’000 %

UnIteD KIngDoM (continued)
Technology hardware and equipment BATM Advanced Communications 2,492

CML Microsystems 3,602
* Concurrent Technology 405

CSR 2,160
Filtronic 518
Imagination Technologies 19,545

† Intechnology 1,286
* IQE 7,586
* MTI Wireless Edge Ltd 154

Northamber 949
* Sandvine 395
* Telit Communications 2,906
* Toumaz 5,976
* Ubisense 633

Wolfson Microelectronics 4,965
53,572  9.4 

TOTAL UNITED KINGDOM EQUITIES  361,933  63.2 

ContInentAL eURoPe
Support services Hologram Industries France 1,631  0.3 
Health care equipment and services Mauna Kea Technologies France 231  – 
General retailers † Atex Norway  –  – 
Media High Co France 236

Roularta Media Group Belgium 214
450  0.1 

Software and computer services Datalex Ireland 511
 Devoteam France 339

Esker France 328
Isra Vision Systems Germany 1,140
Opera Software Norway 1,388
Ordina Netherlands 1,316
Sword Group France 498

5,520  1.0 
Technology hardware and equipment BE Semiconductor Netherlands 2,708

Nordic Semiconductor Norway 1,923
 Soitec France 144

4,775 0.8
TOTAL CONTINENTAL EUROPEAN EQUITIES 12,607 2.2

UsA
Media Techtarget 40  – 
Software and computer services Actuate 5,482

Advent Software 6,310
 Brightcove 555

Descartes Systems Group 2,927
Epiq Systems 2,355
ExactTarget 1,230
Falconstor Software 428
Keynote Systems 2,339
KEYW 781
Mentor Graphics 2,615
NetScout Systems 2,396
Pegasystems 2,580
Retalix Ltd. 2,079
SPS Commerce 1,144
Support.com 2,565
Vasco Data Security 1,003
Web.com 2,275
Websense 4,623

43,687  7.6 
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DetAILeD LIst oF InvestMents continued 

AT 31 DECEMBER 2012

Classification name
value
£’000 %

UsA (continued)
Technology hardware and equipment Alliance Fiber Optic Product 1,386
 Anadigics 1,333

ATMI 7,700
Aviat Networks 423
Cavium 2,879
Ceragon Networks 151
Ceva 3,085
Emulex 1,347
Extreme Networks 2,747

† Green Plug 1,968
Integrated Device 1,078
Lantronix 634
Mellanox Technologies 6,515
Micros Systems 2,610
Mindspeed Technologies 2,458
MIPS Technologies 1,919
Mosys 1,067
MRV Communications 738
PLX Technology 1,117
Power Integrations 723
Radisys 193
Radware 5,277
Sandvine Canada 405
Silicom 547
Silicon Image 213
Silicon Motion Technology 6,115
Spansion 1,036
STEC 303
Supertex Inc 1,403
Tessera Technologies 3,289
Viasat 2,392

63,051 11.0
TOTAL USA EQUITIES  106,778  18.6 

AsIA PACIFIC
Chemicals OCI Materials Korea 295

Soulbrain Korea 2,939
3,234  0.6 

Electronic and electrical equipment BSE Holdings Korea 751
 Dae Duck Electronics Korea 2,121

Innotek Singapore 434
KH Vatec Korea 421
Partron Korea 299
Regent Manner Hong Kong 403
Simm Tech Korea 592
Tripod Technology Taiwan 869
UJU Electronics Korea 1,595
Unimicron Technology Taiwan 840

8,325  1.4 
Support services 51 Job China 574  0.1 
Media Hong Kong Economic Times Hong Kong 417  0.1 
Mobile telecommunications CITIC Telecom International Hong Kong 348  0.1 
Software and computer services Kingdee International Software Hong Kong 633
 Melbourne IT Australia 457

Netqin Mobile China 92
Reckon Australia 1,644
Trunkbow China 38

2,864  0.5 
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DetAILeD LIst oF InvestMents continued 

AT 31 DECEMBER 2012 

Classification name
value
£’000 %

AsIA PACIFIC (continued)
Technology hardware and equipment Advantech Taiwan 1,523
 Ardentec Taiwan 544

Crucialtec Korea 262
D-Link Taiwan 811
Gemtek Taiwan 230
Global Testing Singapore 332
Hana Micron Korea 171
Hanmi Semiconductor Korea 574
Innox Korea 2,380
Jadason Enterprises Singapore 116
King Yuan Electronics Taiwan 566
Kinsus Taiwan 1,666
Min Aik Technology Taiwan 375
Nepes Korea 1,042
Orise Technology Taiwan 282
Protec Korea 224
PSK Korea 471
Silicon Works Korea 472

12,041  2.1 
TOTAL ASIA PACIFIC EQUITIES  27,803  4.9 

eMeRgIng MARKets
Software and computer services Datatec South Africa 2,190  0.4 

TOTAL EMERGING MARKETS EQUITIES  2,190  0.4 

Value of equity stocks 510,582
Convertible loan stocks having an
element of equity  729 

TOTAL EQUITY INVESTMENTS  511,311  89.3 
FIXeD InteRest Daily Mail GT 5.75% 2018 1,852

Daily Mail GT 7.5% 2013 1,616
Norway 6.5% 2013 3,935
Norway 4.25% 2017 4,927
Norway 4.5% 2019 5,153
Ten Alps Bank Loan Note 1,700
Ten Alps Loan Note 1,357
UK Treasury 4% 2016 9,005
WPP Group 6% 2017 2,286

TOTAL FIXED INTEREST  31,831  5.6 
TOTAL INVESTMENTS  543,142 94.9
NET LIQUID ASSETS  29,101  5.1 
TOTAL ASSETS AT MARKET VALUE  572,243  100.0 
(Before deduction of bank loans and derivative financial instruments)

(*  denotes holding listed on AIM)
(† denotes unlisted security)
(# denotes holding wholly or partly in convertible loan stock)
(¶ denotes holding wholly or partly in warrants)
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ten YeAR ReCoRD

Year to
31 December

gross
revenue 
£’000

Available for 
ordinary

shareholders 
£’000

earnings per
ordinary

share net¶
p

Dividend per
ordinary
share net

p

ongoing
charges§

%

Actual 
gearing^

Potential
gearing**

2002 3,539 627 0.74 0.85 1.21 108 113
2003 3,882 276 0.32 0.30 1.20 103 109
2004 4,776 301 0.34 0.30 1.20 97 107
2005 5,368  556 0.64 0.60 1.16 97 100
2006 6,492 1,922 2.19 1.20 1.13 102 105
2007 5,167 (1,370) (1.57) 0.50 1.25 93 100
2008 7,629 4,742 5.59 1.55†† 1.13  101 131
2009 6,077 324 0.39 0.30 1.12 105 117
2010 7,277 42 0.05 – 1.05 101 112
2011 9,171 947 1.19 1.00 1.10 105 116

2012 9,164 750 0.94 1.00 1.08 104 114

¶  The calculation of earnings per ordinary share is based on the revenue from ordinary activities after taxation and the weighted average number of ordinary 
shares in issue (see note 8, page 43).

§ From 2012, calculated by dividing total operating costs by average net asset value (with debt at fair value) in accordance with AIC guidelines. Prior years 
have not been recalculated as the change in methodology is not considered to result in a materially different figure.

^ Total assets (including all debt used for investment purposes) less all cash and fixed interest securities (excluding convertibles and corporate bonds) 
divided by shareholders’ funds.

**  Total assets (including all debt used for investment purposes) divided by shareholders’ funds.
†† The 2008 dividend excludes the special dividend of 3.45p.

Cumulative Performance (taking 2002 as 100)

At
31 December

Diluted 
net asset 

value 
per share*

share 
price 

p
Comparative

index‡‡

numis 
smaller Cos  

plus AIM Index

Russell 
2000

technology
Index§§

earnings per
ordinary

share

Dividend per
ordinary 
share net

Retail 
price 
index

2002 100 100 100 100 100 100 100 100
2003 177 184 142 139 147 43 35 103

^^2004 184 182 152 163 131 46 35 106
2005 198 215 182 199 143 86 71 109
2006 211 217 205 238 142 296 141 114
2007 191 176 197 221 145 (212) 59 118
2008 122 104 117 112 116 755 182 119
2009 203 191 179 176 166 53 35 122
2010 287 273 238 226 234 7 – 128
2011 273 257 209 192 216 160 118 134

2012 306 290 239 229 225 128 118 138

Compound Annual Returns

5 year 9.9% 10.5% 3.9% 0.8% 9.1% n/a 14.9% 3.2%

10 year 11.8% 11.2% 9.1% 8.7% 8.4% 2.5% 1.6% 3.3%

Past performance is not a guide to future performance.
^^ The figures prior to 2004 have not been restated for the changes in accounting policies implemented in 2005.
‡‡ From 1 January 2006 the comparative index was charged to 2/3 Numis Smaller Companies Index (previously Hoare Govett Smaller Companies Index) 

plus AIM (capital gains ex investment companies) and 1/3 Russell 2000 (small cap) Technology Index (in sterling terms).
§§ The Russell 2000 (small cap) Technology Index was rebased during 2009 following some minor adjustments to its constituents. The rebased index is 

used from 31 December 2008 onwards. 

Capital

At
31 December

total 
assets 
£’000

Bank
loans
£’000

shareholders’
funds
£’000

net asset 
value 

per share
p

Diluted net
asset value 
per share*

p

share 
price 

p

Warrant
price 

p

(Discount)/
premium† 

%

2002 199,900 (22,310) 177,590 210.23 206.68 177.00 79.00 (14.4)
2003 350,209 (29,325) 320,884 365.44 365.44 325.25 – (11.0)

#2004 356,874 (24,663) 332,211 379.43 379.43 322.75 – (14.9)
2005 358,293 – 358,293 409.22 409.22 379.75 – (7.2)
2006 401,228 (20,000) 381,228 435.41 435.41 383.50 – (11.9)
2007 343,497 – 343,497 394.96 394.96 312.00 – (21.0)
2008 275,789 (65,079)‡ 210,710 252.63 252.63 184.00 – (27.2)
2009 397,194 (56,298)‡ 340,896 420.58 420.58 337.75 – (19.7)
2010 533,499 (58,937)‡ 474,562 593.85 593.85 483.00 – (18.7)
2011 519,656 (70,357)‡ 449,299 563.75 563.75 455.00 – (19.3)

2012 572,243 (70,297)‡ 501,946 632.78 632.78 513.00 – (18.9)

*  The diluted net asset value per ordinary share figures have been calculated in accordance with FRS22.
 † (Discount)/premium is the difference between Herald’s quoted share price and its underlying diluted net asset value.
# The figures prior to 2004 have not been restated for the changes in accounting policies implemented in 2005.
‡ Includes derivative financial instruments.

gearing RatiosRevenue
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DIReCtoRs’ RePoRt

The Directors present their Report together with the financial statements of the Company for the year to  
31 December 2012. 

Business Review 
Business and status 
The Company is an investment company within the meaning of Section 833 of the Companies Act 2006. 

The Company carries on business as an investment trust. It was approved by HM Revenue & Customs as 
an investment trust under Section 1158 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010 for the year ended 31 December 
2011, subject to matters that may arise from any subsequent enquiry by HM Revenue & Customs into the 
Company’s tax return. In the opinion of the Directors the Company has subsequently conducted its affairs so 
as to enable it to seek such approval. In accordance with recent changes to Section 1158, the Company has 
obtained approval as an investment trust from HM Revenue & Customs for accounting periods commencing 
on or after 1 January 2012.

objective 
Herald’s objective is to achieve capital appreciation through investments in smaller quoted companies, in the 
areas of telecommunications, multi-media and technology (TMT). Investments may be made across the world. 
The business activities of investee companies will include information technology, broadcasting, printing and 
publishing and the supply of equipment and services to these companies. 

Investment Policy 
While the policy is global investment in the above target areas the approach is to construct a diversified portfolio 
through the identification of individual companies which offer long term growth potential, typically over a five 
year horizon or more. The portfolio is actively managed and does not seek to track any comparative index. 
With a remit to invest in smaller companies with market capitalisation generally below £1bn, there tends to be 
a correlation with the performance of smaller companies, as well as those of the technology sector. A degree 
of volatility relative to the overall market should be expected. 

The risk associated with the illiquidity of smaller companies is reduced by generally restricting the stake 
in any one company to less than 10% of the shares in issue. A number of investments are in early stage 
companies, which have a higher stock specific risk but the potential for above average growth. Stock specific 
risk is reduced by having a diversified portfolio of over 200 holdings. In addition, to contain the risk of any 
one holding, the Manager generally takes profits when a holding reaches more than 5% of the portfolio. The 
Manager actively manages the exposure within the constraint that illiquid positions cannot be traded for short 
term movements. 

The Company has a policy not to invest more than 15% of gross assets in other UK listed investment companies. 

From time to time, fixed interest holdings, non equity or unlisted investments may be held on an opportunistic 
basis. 

The Company recognises the long term advantages of gearing and has a maximum gearing limit of 50% of 
net assets. Borrowings are invested primarily in equity markets but the Manager is entitled to invest in other 
securities in the companies in the target areas when it is considered that the investment grounds merit the 
Company taking a geared position. The Board’s intention is to gear the portfolio when appropriate with 
borrowings to around 30% of net assets. Gearing levels are monitored closely by the Manager and reviewed 
by Directors at each Board Meeting. 

The Company may use derivatives which will be principally, but not exclusively, for the purpose of efficient 
portfolio management (i.e. for the purpose of reducing, transferring or eliminating investment risk in its 
investments, including protection against currency risk). 

A detailed analysis of the Company’s investment portfolio is set out on pages 16 to 20 and in the Investment 
Manager’s Report.

Performance 
At each Board Meeting, the Directors consider a number of performance measures to assess the Company’s 
success in achieving its objectives. 

The key performance indicators (KPIs) used to measure the progress and performance of the Company over 
time are established industry measures and are as follows: 

•	 the movement in net asset value per ordinary share compared to the comparative index; 

•	 the movement in the share price; 

•	 the discount; and 

•	 the ongoing charges. 
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A historical record of these measures is shown on pages 2, 3 and 21. 

In addition to the above, the Board considers peer group comparative performance.

Borrowings 
No loans were drawn down or repaid during the year to 31 December 2012.

Results and Dividend
The net asset value (NAV) of the Company at 31 December 2012 was 632.78p per Ordinary share (2011 – 
563.75p). This represented an increase of 12.3% during the year, compared to an increase in the comparative 
index of 14.4%. The discount narrowed from 19.3% to 18.9%.

The Directors recommend a dividend of 1.00p (2011 – 1.00p) per Ordinary share for the year ended  
31 December 2012. If approved at the Annual General Meeting, the final dividend will be payable on 3 May 
2013 to holders registered on 12 April 2013. The ex-dividend date is 10 April 2013. 

Review of the Year and Future trends
A review of the year and the investment outlook is contained in the Chairman’s Statement and the Investment 
Manager’s Report on pages 5 to 11. 

Principal Risks and Uncertainties 
The Company’s assets consist mainly of listed securities and its principal risks are therefore market related and 
include market risk (comprising currency risk, interest rate risk and other price risk), liquidity risk and credit 
risk. An explanation of those risks and how they are managed is contained in note 20 to the accounts on pages 
47 to 54. 

Other risks faced by the Company include the following:

Regulatory Risk – failure to comply with applicable legal and regulatory requirements could lead to suspension 
of the Company’s Stock Exchange Listing, financial penalties or a qualified audit report. Breach of Sections 
1158 and 1159 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010 could lead to the Company being subject to tax on capital 
gains. The Manager’s Compliance Officer and Baillie Gifford’s Heads of Business Risk & Internal Audit and 
Regulatory Risk provide regular reports to the Audit Committee on their monitoring programmes. The Manager 
monitors investment positions and the Secretary monitors the level of forecast income and expenditure to 
ensure the provisions of Sections 1158 and 1159 are not breached.

Major regulatory change could impose disproportionate compliance burdens on the Company. In such 
circumstances representation is made to ensure that special circumstances of investment trusts are recognised. 

Operational/Financial Risk – failure of the Secretary’s accounting systems or those of other third party 
service providers could lead to an inability to provide accurate reporting and monitoring or a misappropriation 
of assets. The Secretary has a comprehensive business continuity plan which facilitates continued operation 
of the business in the event of a service disruption or major disruption. The Audit Committee reviews the 
Secretary’s Report on Internal Controls and the reports by other key third party providers are reviewed by 
the Secretary on behalf of the Audit Committee. 

Discount Volatility – the discount at which the Company’s shares trade can widen. The Board monitors the 
level of discount and the Company has authority to buy back its own shares.

Gearing Risk – the Company may borrow money for investment purposes. If the investments fall in value, 
any borrowings will magnify the extent of this loss. If borrowing facilities are not renewed, the Company may 
have to sell investments to repay borrowings.

All borrowings require the prior approval of the Board and gearing levels are discussed by the Board and 
Managers at every meeting. The majority of the Company’s investments are in quoted securities.

employees
The Company has no employees. 

social and Community Issues 
As an investment trust, the Company has no direct social or community responsibilities. However, the Company 
believes that it is in the shareholders’ interests to consider environmental, social and governance factors when 
selecting and retaining investments. Details of the Company’s policy on socially responsible investment can 
be found under Corporate Governance and Stewardship on page 27. 

DIReCtoRs’ RePoRt continued
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DIReCtoRs’ RePoRt continued

Corporate governance
Compliance
The Board is committed to achieving and demonstrating high standards of Corporate Governance. 
This statement outlines how the principles of the June 2010 UK Corporate Governance Code  
(the “Code”), which can be found at www.frc.org.uk, were applied throughout the financial year. The Board 
confirms that the Company has complied throughout the year under review with the relevant provisions of 
the Code, except that Mr J Cazalet, Chairman of the Board, is a member of the Audit Committee. The Board 
believes that it is appropriate for Mr Cazalet to be a member of the Audit Committee as he is considered to 
be independent and there are no conflicts of interest. 

The Association of Investment Companies has published its own Code of Corporate Governance 
which provides a framework of best practice for investment companies which can be found at  
www.theaic.co.uk. The Board is of the opinion that the Company has complied with the recommendations 
of the AIC Code. 

the Board 
The Board has overall responsibility for the Company’s affairs. It has a number of matters reserved for its 
approval including strategy, approval of the financial statements, investment policy, borrowings, gearing, 
treasury matters, dividend and corporate governance policy. The Board also reviews the financial statements, 
investment transactions, revenue budgets and performance. Full and timely information is provided to the 
Board to enable it to function effectively and to allow Directors to discharge their responsibilities. 

Following the appointment of Mr S W Newton on 6 January 2012 and the retirement of Mr CM Brendish 
on 17 April 2012, the Board comprises four Directors, all of whom are non-executive. The Chairman is 
responsible for organising the business of the Board, ensuring its effectiveness and setting its agenda. The 
executive responsibilities for investment management and administration have been delegated to Herald 
Investment Management Limited (‘HIML’) and Baillie Gifford & Co respectively, and in the context of a Board 
comprising entirely non-executive Directors, there is no chief executive officer. Mr DCP McDougall is the 
senior independent director. 

The Directors believe that the Board has a balance of skills and experience which enable it to provide effective 
leadership and proper governance of the Company. Information about the Directors, including their relevant 
experience, can be found on page 4. 

There is an agreed procedure for Directors to seek independent professional advice if necessary at the 
Company’s expense. 

terms of Appointment 
The terms and conditions of Directors’ appointments are set out in formal letters of appointment which are 
available for inspection on request.

Under the provisions of the Company’s Articles of Association, a Director appointed during the year is required 
to retire and seek election by shareholders at the next Annual General Meeting. The Board has agreed that 
all Directors will retire annually and if appropriate, offer themselves for re-election. 

Independence of Directors 
All the Directors are considered by the Board to be independent of the Manager and free of any business or 
other relationship which could interfere with the exercise of their independent judgement. 

Mr DCP McDougall has served on the Board for more than nine years. The Directors recognise the importance 
of succession planning for company boards and review the Board composition annually. However, the Board 
is of the view that length of service will not necessarily compromise the independence or contribution of 
Directors of an investment trust company, where continuity and experience can be a benefit to the Board. The 
Board subscribes to the view expressed in the AIC Code that long-serving directors should not be prevented 
from being considered as independent. 

Following a formal performance evaluation, the Board has concluded that Mr McDougall continues to be 
independent in character and judgement and his skills and experience have been a benefit to the Board.

Meetings 
There is an annual cycle of Board meetings which is designed to address, in a systematic way, overall strategy, 
review of investment policy, investment performance, revenue budgets, dividend policy and communication 
with shareholders. The Board considers that it meets sufficiently regularly to discharge its duties effectively. 
The table on page 25 shows the attendance record for the Board and Committee meetings held during the 
year. All the Directors attended the Annual General Meeting. 
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DIReCtoRs’ RePoRt continued

Board
Audit

Committee
nomination
Committee

number of meetings 5 2 2

Julian Cazalet 5 2 2

Clay Brendish (retired 17 April 2012) 2 1 –

Timothy Curtis 5 2 2

Douglas McDougall 5 2 2

Stewart Newton (appointed 6 January 2012) 4 2 2

nomination Committee 
The Nomination Committee consists of all the Directors and the Chairman of the Board is Chairman of the 
Committee. The Committee meets on an annual basis and at such other times as may be required. The 
Committee has written terms of reference which include reviewing the Board, identifying and nominating new 
candidates for appointment to the Board, Board appraisal, succession planning and training. The Committee 
also considers whether Directors should be recommended for re-election by shareholders. The Committee is 
responsible for considering Directors’ potential conflicts of interest and for making recommendations to the 
Board on whether or not the potential conflicts should be authorised. The terms of reference are available on 
request and on the Manager’s website: www.heralduk.com. 

Performance evaluation 
The Nomination Committee met to assess the performance of the Chairman, each Director, the Board as a 
whole and its Committees, after inviting each Director and the Chairman to consider and respond to a set 
of questions. The appraisal of the Chairman was led by Mr DCP McDougall. The appraisals and evaluations 
considered, amongst other criteria, the balance of skills of the Board, training and development requirements, 
the contribution of individual Directors and the overall effectiveness of the Board and its Committees. 
Following this process it was concluded that the performance of each Director, the Chairman, the Board and its 
Committees continues to be effective and each Director and the Chairman remain committed to the Company.

The Board currently considers that the use of external consultants to facilitate this evaluation is unlikely to be 
a significant benefit to the process, though the option to do so is kept under review.

A review of the Chairman’s and other Director’s commitments was carried out and the Nomination Committee 
is satisfied that they are capable of devoting sufficient time to the Company. There were no significant changes 
to the Chairman’s other commitments during the year. 

Induction and training 
Training for new Directors is tailored to the particular circumstances of the individual appointee. Regular 
briefings are provided on changes in regulatory requirements that could affect the Company and the Directors. 
Directors receive other relevant training as necessary. 

Remuneration 
As all the Directors are non-executive there is no requirement for a separate remuneration committee. Directors’ 
fees are considered by the Board as a whole within the limits approved by shareholders. The Company’s policy 
on remuneration is set out in the Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 31 and 32. 

Internal Controls and Risk Management 
The Directors acknowledge their responsibility for the Company’s risk management and internal controls 
systems and for reviewing their effectiveness. The systems are designed to manage rather than eliminate 
the risk of failure to achieve business objectives and can only provide reasonable but not absolute assurance 
against material misstatement or loss. 

The Board confirms that there is an ongoing process for identifying, evaluating and managing the significant 
risks faced by the Company, in accordance with the guidance ‘Internal Control: Revised Guidance for Directors 
on the Combined Code.’ 

The Directors confirm that they have reviewed the effectiveness of the Company’s risk management and 
internal control systems and they have procedures in place to review their effectiveness on a regular basis. 
No significant weaknesses were identified in the year under review.

The practical measures to ensure compliance with regulation and company law, and to provide effective and 
efficient operations and investment management, have been delegated to HIML and Baillie Gifford & Co. 
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The practical measures in relation to the design, implementation and maintenance of control policies and 
procedures to safeguard the assets of the Company and to manage its affairs properly, including the maintenance 
of effective operational and compliance controls and risk management have also been delegated to HIML. The 
Board acknowledges its responsibilities to supervise and control the discharge by the Manager and Secretary 
of their obligations. 

The Manager has a compliance function in accordance with the Financial Services Authority regulations. The 
Manager’s compliance function provides the Board with a report on its monitoring procedures on a regular 
basis. The Baillie Gifford & Co Heads of Business Risk & Internal Audit and Regulatory Risk also provide the 
Board with regular reports on Baillie Gifford & Co’s monitoring programmes as they relate to the secretarial 
and administrative function. In addition, Baillie Gifford & Co conducts an annual review of its own system of 
internal controls which is documented within an internal controls report which has been designed to comply 
with Technical Release AAF 01/06 – Assurance Reports on Internal Controls of Service Organisations made 
available to Third Parties and ISAE 3402. This report is independently reviewed by Baillie Gifford & Co’s 
auditors. A copy of the internal controls report is submitted to the Board. 

The Company’s investments are segregated from the investment and administration functions through the 
appointment of The Bank of New York Mellon as independent custodian of the Company’s investments. The 
custodian prepares a report on its internal controls which is independently reviewed by KPMG LLP. 

A detailed risk map is prepared which identifies the significant risks faced by the Company and the key controls 
employed to manage these risks. 

These procedures ensure that consideration is given regularly to the nature and extent of the risks facing the 
Company and that they are being actively monitored. Where changes in risk have been identified during the 
year they also provide a mechanism to assess whether further action is required to manage the risks identified. 
The Board confirms that these procedures have been in place throughout the Company’s financial year and 
continue to be in place up to the date of approval of this Report. 

Internal Audit 
The Audit Committee carries out an annual review of the need for an internal audit function. The Committee 
continues to believe that the compliance and internal control systems and the internal audit function in place 
within the Manager and Company Secretary provide sufficient assurance that a sound system of internal 
control, which safeguards shareholders’ investment and the Company’s assets, is maintained. An internal 
audit function, specific to the Company, is therefore considered unnecessary.

Accountability and Audit 
The respective responsibilities of the Directors and the auditors in connection with the Financial Statements 
are set out on pages 33 to 35. 

going Concern
In accordance with The Financial Reporting Council’s guidance on going concern and liquidity risk, the Directors 
have undertaken a rigorous review of the Company’s ability to continue as a going concern. The Company’s 
principal risks are market related and include market risk, liquidity risk and credit risk. An explanation of these 
risks and how they are managed is contained in Note 20 to the financial statements. The Company’s assets, 
the majority of which are investments in quoted securities, exceed its liabilities significantly. All borrowings 
require the prior approval of the Board. Gearing levels and compliance with loan convenants are reviewed by 
the Board on a regular basis. The two £25 million loan facilities which were due to expire in May 2013 were 
replaced on 6 February 2013 with a £50 million facility maturing 31 December 2014. In accordance with the 
Company’s Articles of Association, shareholders have the right to vote on the continuation of the Company 
every three years with the next vote at the Annual General Meeting to be held on 23 April 2013. The Directors 
have no reason to believe that the continuation vote will not be passed at the Annual General Meeting. 

After making enquiries and notwithstanding the above, the financial statements have been prepared on the 
going concern basis. 

Audit Committee
An Audit Committee has been established consisting of all the independent non-executive Directors. Its 
authority and duties are clearly defined within its written terms of reference which are available on request 
from the Company and on the Manager’s website: www.heralduk.com. Mr DCP McDougall is Chairman 
of the Audit Committee. The Board believes it is appropriate for Mr Cazalet to be a member of the Audit 
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Committee as he is considered to be independent and there are no conflicts of interest. The Committee’s 
responsibilities, which were discharged during the year, include: 

•	 monitoring and reviewing the integrity of the half-yearly and annual financial statements and any formal 
announcements relating to the Company’s financial performance;

•	 reviewing the adequacy and effectiveness of internal control and risk management systems; 

•	 making recommendations to the Board in relation to the appointment of the external auditor and approving 
the remuneration and terms of their engagement; 

•	 developing and implementing policy on the engagement of the external auditor to supply non-audit services 
(there were no non-audit services during the year); 

•	 reviewing and monitoring the independence, objectivity and effectiveness of the external auditor; 

•	 reviewing the arrangements in place within HIML whereby their staff may, in confidence, raise concerns 
about possible improprieties in matters of financial reporting or other matters insofar as they may affect 
the Company; 

•	 reviewing the terms of the Investment Management Agreement; and 

•	 considering annually whether there is a need for the Company to have its own internal audit function. 

Ernst & Young LLP have been the Company’s Auditor since 1994. Having considered the experience and 
tenure of the audit partner and staff and level of service provided, the Committee remains satisfied with the 
auditor’s effectiveness. The auditor responsible for the audit must be rotated at least every five years and the 
current lead audit partner assumed the role during the year. There are no contractual obligations restricting the 
Company’s choice of external auditor. The Committee receives confirmation from the Auditor that they have 
complied with the relevant UK professional and regulatory requirements on independence. The Committee 
does not believe that there has been any impairment to the Auditor’s independence. 

Relations with shareholders 
The Board places great importance on communication with shareholders. The Company’s Manager meets 
regularly with larger shareholders and reports to the Board. The Chairman is available to meet with shareholders 
as appropriate. Shareholders wishing to communicate with the Chairman or any other Director may do so by 
writing to him at the registered office of the Company which is shown on page 4. 

The Company’s Annual General Meeting provides a forum for communication with all shareholders. The level 
of proxies lodged for each resolution is announced at the meeting and is published on the Manager’s website, 
www.heralduk.com, subsequent to the meeting. The notice period for the Annual General Meeting is at 
least twenty working days. Shareholders and potential investors may obtain up-to-date information on the 
Company from the Manager’s website. 

Corporate governance and stewardship 
The Company has given discretionary voting powers to the investment manager, HIML. The Manager votes 
against resolutions it considers may damage shareholders’ rights or economic interests. The Company believes 
that it is in the shareholders’ interests to consider environmental, social and governance (ESG) factors when 
selecting and retaining investments and has asked the Manager to take these issues into account as long as the 
investment objectives are not compromised. The Manager does not exclude companies from its investment 
universe purely on the grounds of ESG issues but adopts a positive engagement approach whereby matters 
are discussed with management with the aim of improving the relevant policies and management systems 
and enabling the Manager to consider how ESG factors could impact long term investment returns. The 
Manager’s Statement of Compliance with the UK Stewardship Code can be found on the Manager’s website at  
www.heralduk.com. The Manager’s policy has been reviewed and endorsed by the Board. 

Conflicts of Interest
Each Director submits a list of potential conflicts of interest to the Nomination Committee on an annual basis. 
The Committee considers these carefully, taking into account the circumstances surrounding them, and 
makes a recommendation to the Board on whether or not the potential conflicts should be authorised. Board 
authorisation is for a period of one year. Having considered the lists of potential conflicts there were no situations 
which gave rise to a direct or indirect interest of a Director which conflicted with the interests of the Company.

Bribery Act 2010
The Company has a zero tolerance policy towards bribery and is committed to carrying out business fairly, 
honestly and openly. The Manager and Company Secretary also adopt a zero tolerance approach and have 
policies and procedures in place to prevent bribery. 
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Directors
The Directors at the year end and their interests in the Company were:

name
nature of 

Interest

number of
ordinary shares 
at 31 December

2012

number of
ordinary shares

at 1 January
2012

Julian Cazalet Beneficial 100,000 100,000

Non-beneficial 50,000 50,000

Timothy Curtis Beneficial 10,000 10,000

Douglas McDougall Beneficial 242,000 233,500

Stewart Newton Beneficial 25,000 –

There have been no changes intimated in the above Directors’ interests up to 26 February 2013.

Mr S W Newton was appointed to the Board on 6 January 2012 and elected by shareholders at the Annual 
General Meeting.

All Directors will retire at the Annual General Meeting and all Directors will offer themselves for re-election.

The Board has reviewed the performance of Mr CJ Cazalet, Mr TM Curtis, Mr DCP McDougall and  
Mr SW Newton. Their performance continues to be effective and they remain committed to the Company. 
Their contribution to the Board is valued highly and the Board recommends their re-election to shareholders. 

Director Indemnification and Insurance
The Company has entered into deeds of indemnity in favour of each of the Directors. The deeds cover any 
liabilities that may arise to a third party, other than the Company, for negligence, default or breach of trust 
or duty. The Directors are not indemnified in respect of liabilities to the Company, any regulatory or criminal 
fines, any costs incurred in connection with criminal proceedings in which the Director is convicted or civil 
proceedings brought by the Company in which judgement is given against him. In addition, the indemnity 
does not apply to any liability to the extent that it is recovered from another person. 

The Company maintains Directors’ and Officers’ liability insurance.

Management and Administration 
The management of the Company is contracted to Herald Investment Management Limited (‘HIML’). HIML 
is authorised and regulated by the Financial Services Authority. 

The management contract is subject to 12 months’ notice by either party. The senior director of HIML with 
prime responsibility for the management of Herald Investment Trust plc is Katie Potts, who is also a substantial 
shareholder of HIML. HIML is remunerated at a monthly rate of 0.08333% of the Company’s net asset value 
calculated using middle market prices. Compensation fees would only be payable in respect of this 12 month 
period if termination were to occur sooner. Careful consideration has been given by the Board as to the basis 
on which the management fee is charged. The Board considers that maintaining a relatively low total expense 
ratio is in the best interest of all shareholders. The Board is also of the view that calculating the fee with 
reference to performance would be unlikely to exert a positive influence over the long term performance. At 
31 December 2012, Katie Potts held 315,699 Ordinary shares of Herald Investment Trust plc.

At 31 December 2012, the Company was the beneficial owner of 14.5% of the Ordinary share capital of HIML 
Holdings Limited, the parent company of HIML.

Administration of the Company and its investments is contracted by HIML to Baillie Gifford & Co, who also 
act as Company Secretary. 

The Board considers the investment management and secretarial arrangements for the Company on an ongoing 
basis and a formal review is conducted annually. The Board considers, amongst others, the following topics in 
its review: investment performance in relation to the investment policy and strategy; the continuity of personnel 
managing the assets and reporting to the Board; the level of service provided in terms of the accuracy and 
timeliness of reports to the Board and the frequency and quality of both verbal and written communications 
with shareholders. Following the most recent review the Board is of the opinion that the continued appointment 
of HIML as investment manager, on the terms agreed, is in the interests of shareholders due to the experience 
of the Manager and the quality of information provided to the Board. 

DIReCtoRs’ RePoRt continued
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Major Interests in the Company’s shares 

name
ordinary

shares
 % of
 issue *

1607 Capital Partners (Indirect) 4,008,510 5.0

Rathbone Brothers Plc (Indirect) 4,103,909 5.1

There have been no changes to the major interests in the Company’s shares intimated up to 26 February 2013.

* Based on issued share capital at 31 December 2012 of 79,323,283 Ordinary shares.

share Capital 
Capital structure 
At 31 December 2012 the Company’s capital structure consisted of 79,323,283 Ordinary shares of 25p each 
(2011 – 79,698,283 Ordinary shares). During the year 375,000 (2011 – 215,000) shares were bought back 
and cancelled. There are no restrictions concerning the holding or transfer of the Company’s Ordinary shares 
and there are no special rights attached to any of the shares. 

Dividends 
The Ordinary shares carry a right to receive dividends. Interim dividends are determined by the Directors and 
final dividends are subject to shareholder approval. 

Capital entitlement 
On a winding up, after meeting the liabilities of the Company, the surplus assets will be paid to Ordinary 
shareholders in proportion to their shareholdings. 

voting 
Each Ordinary shareholder present in person or by proxy is entitled to one vote on a show of hands and, on 
a poll, to one vote for every share held. 

Information on the deadlines for proxy appointments can be found on page 56. 

Annual general Meeting 
At the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held on 23 April 2013 the following resolutions will be 
proposed as special business. 

Continuation of the Company 
In accordance with the Company’s Articles of Association, shareholders have the right to vote on the 
continuation of the Company every three years with the next vote at the Annual General Meeting on 23 April 
2013. Accordingly, an ordinary resolution, Resolution 10 in the Notice of Annual General Meeting, is being 
proposed to the effect that the Company should continue as an investment trust. 

Authority to Purchase the Company’s ordinary shares 
At the Company’s Annual General Meeting held on 17 April 2012 the Company was authorised to purchase 
up to 11,946,772 of the Company’s Ordinary shares (14.99% of its Ordinary share capital in issue at that time). 
During the year to 31 December 2012 the Company bought back 375,000 Ordinary shares (nominal value 
£93,750 which comprised 0.5% of the issued share capital at 1 January 2012) on the London Stock Exchange 
for cancellation. Between 1 January 2013 and the date of this report, the Company bought back a further 
508,737 Ordinary shares (nominal value £127,184 which comprised 0.6% of the issued share capital at 1 
January 2013) on the London Stock Exchange for cancellation. The Board continues to believe that the ability 
of the Company to purchase its own Ordinary shares in the market will potentially benefit all shareholders 
of the Company. The repurchase of Ordinary shares at a discount to the underlying net asset value (‘NAV’) 
should enhance the NAV per Ordinary share of the remaining shares and may also enable the Company to 
address more effectively any imbalance between supply and demand for the Company’s Ordinary shares. 

DIReCtoRs’ RePoRt continued
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DIReCtoRs’ RePoRt continued

Accordingly, the Directors are now recommending in Resolution 11 that this authority to purchase the 
Company’s own Ordinary shares should be renewed and should now expire at the Company’s Annual General 
Meeting to be held in 2014. Authority will be sought to purchase up to 14.99% of the Company’s Ordinary 
shares in issue at the date of the passing of the resolution (the maximum permitted under the Listing Rules of 
the UK Listing Authority) at a price that is not less than 25p per share (the nominal value of each share) and 
must not exceed the higher of (a) 5% above the average closing price (as derived from the Daily Official List of 
the London Stock Exchange) for the five business days immediately preceding the day of purchase and (b) the 
higher of the last independent trade and the highest current independent bid on the London Stock Exchange. 
The full text of the authority being sought can be found in Resolution 11 in the Notice of Annual General 
Meeting. The decision as to whether the Company repurchases any shares will be at the absolute discretion 
of the Board and will only be considered when it is in the interests of the Company and its shareholders as a 
whole. It is the intention that purchases will only be made at a discount to net asset value.

Articles of Association
Resolution 12 proposes that two principal changes be made to the Articles of Association. Firstly, it is proposed 
that the maximum aggregate amount of fees that may be paid to the Directors, without having to obtain 
additional shareholder approval, be increased from £100,000 to £125,000 per annum (Article 95). Secondly, 
in order to reflect technological changes, it is proposed to amend the Articles of Association (Article 11.1) 
to permit certificates for shares and debentures to be issued with a securities seal attached or printed by any 
mechanical, electronic, laser or other means approved by the directors. In addition, it is proposed that certain 
definitions in Article 2 be updated.

A copy of the new Articles marked to show the changes being made is available for inspection at the registered 
address of the Company and at the offices of Macfarlanes LLP, 20 Cursitor Street, London, EC4A 1LT during 
normal business hours on any day (Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays excepted) from the date of the 
notice of the AGM until the conclusion of the AGM. 

Recommendation 
The Directors unanimously recommend all holders to vote in favour of all the Resolutions to be proposed at 
the Annual General Meeting by completing and returning the enclosed form of proxy. The proxy form should 
be returned to the Company’s Registrar as soon as possible but in any event so as to arrive no later than 48 
hours (excluding non-working days) before the time of the Annual General Meeting. 

Payment of suppliers 
It is the Company’s payment policy to obtain the best possible terms for all business. The Company negotiates 
with its suppliers the terms on which business will take place and abides by such terms. 

The Company did not have any trade creditors at 31 December 2011 or 2012. 

Disclosure of Information to the Auditor 
The Directors confirm that so far as each of the Directors is aware there is no relevant audit information of 
which the Company’s auditor is unaware and the Directors have taken all the steps that they ought to have 
taken as Directors in order to make themselves aware of any relevant audit information and to establish that 
the Company’s auditor is aware of that information.

Independent Auditors 
The Auditors, Ernst & Young LLP, are willing to continue in office and in accordance with sections 489 and 
491(1) of the Companies Act 2006 resolutions concerning their reappointment and remuneration will be 
submitted to the Annual General Meeting. 

By order of the Board 

Julian Cazalet 
Chairman 

27 February 2013
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DIReCtoRs’ ReMUneRAtIon RePoRt

The Board has prepared this report in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006. An 
ordinary resolution for the approval of this report will be put to the members at the forthcoming Annual 
General Meeting. 

The law requires the Company’s auditors to audit certain of the disclosures provided. Where disclosures have 
been audited, they are indicated as such. The Auditor’s opinion is included in their report on pages 34 and 35. 

Remuneration Committee 
The Company has four Directors all of whom are non-executive (see page 4). There is no separate Remuneration 
Committee and the Board as a whole considers changes to Directors’ fees from time to time. The Company 
Secretary, Baillie Gifford & Co, provides advice and comparative information when the Board considers the 
level of Directors’ fees. 

Policy on Directors’ Fees
The Board’s policy is that the remuneration of Directors should be set at a reasonable level that is commensurate 
with the duties and responsibilities of the role and consistent with the requirement to attract and retain Directors 
of the appropriate quality and experience. It should also reflect the experience of the Board as a whole and 
be fair and comparable to that of other investment trusts that are similar in size. It is intended that this policy 
will continue for the year ending 31 December 2013 and subsequent years. 

The fees for the non-executive Directors are determined within an aggregate limit set out in the Company’s 
Articles of Association which currently stands at £100,000 per annum. Shareholders approval to increase the 
limit (pursuant to Article 95 of the Articles of Association) to £125,000 per annum in aggregate will be sought 
at the forthcoming Annual General Meeting. Non-executive Directors are not eligible for bonuses, pension 
benefits, share options, long term incentive schemes or other benefits. 

The Board reviewed Directors’ fees during the year and concluded that the fees should be increased from 
£25,500 to £28,500 for the Chairman and from £17,000 to £19,000 for each Director with the Chairman of 
the Audit Committee receiving an additional £2,000 per annum. This increase was effective from 1 July 2012. 
Directors’ fees were previously increased in 2009. 

Directors’ service Contracts 
It is the Board’s policy that none of the Directors has a service contract. All of the Directors have been provided 
with appointment letters. The terms of their appointment provide that a Director shall retire and be subject to 
election at the first Annual General Meeting after their appointment. Under the provisions of the UK Corporate 
Governance Code, all Directors are required to retire at each Annual General Meeting and offer themselves for 
re-election. There is no notice period and no provision for compensation upon early termination of appointment.

name
Date of 

appointment
Due date for 

election/re-election

Julian Cazalet 18 January 2008 AGM 2013

Timothy Curtis 22 July 2004 AGM 2013 

Douglas McDougall 13 February 2002 AGM 2013 

Stewart Newton 6 January 2012 AGM 2013 
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Source: Thomson Reuters Datastream
* Total return (assuming all dividends are reinvested).

Past performance is not a guide to future performance. 

 
Directors’ Remuneration for the Year (audited) 
The Directors who served in the year received the following emoluments in the form of fees: 

Fees
2012

£

Fees
2011

£

Directors who served during the year:

Julian Cazalet 27,000 25,500

Clay Brendish (retired 17 April 2012) 5,042 17,000

Timothy Curtis 18,000 17,000

Douglas McDougall 20,000 18,000

Stewart Newton (appointed 6 January 2012) 17,794 –

87,836 77,500

 
Approval 
The Directors’ Remuneration Report on pages 31 and 32 was approved by the Board of Directors on  
27 February 2013 and signed on its behalf by 

Julian Cazalet
Chairman

Company Performance 
The graph below compares, for the five financial years ended 31 December 2012, the total return (assuming 
all dividends are reinvested) to Ordinary shareholders compared to the total shareholder return on a notional 
investment made up of shares in the component parts of the MSCI World Index (in sterling terms). This index 
was chosen for comparison purposes, as it is the most widely used global equity index. 

HERALD’S SHARE PRICE AND MSCI WORLD INDEX (in sterling terms)*

(figures have been rebased to 100 at 31 December 2007)

Share price*

MSCI World Index
(in sterling terms)*
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stAteMent oF DIReCtoRs’ ResPonsIBILItIes

The Directors are responsible for preparing the Annual Report, the Directors’ Remuneration Report and the 
financial statements in accordance with applicable law and regulations. 

Company law requires the Directors to prepare financial statements for each financial year. Under that law 
the Directors have elected to prepare the financial statements in accordance with applicable law and United 
Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice). Under company 
law the Directors must not approve the financial statements unless they are satisfied that they give a true and 
fair view of the state of affairs of the Company and of the profit or loss of the Company for that period. In 
preparing these financial statements, the Directors are required to:

•	 select suitable accounting policies and then apply them consistently;

•	 make judgements and accounting estimates that are reasonable and prudent; and

•	 state whether applicable UK Accounting Standards have been followed, subject to any material departures 
disclosed and explained in the financial statements.

The Directors are responsible for the keeping of adequate accounting records that are sufficient to show and 
explain the Company’s transactions and disclose with reasonable accuracy at any time the financial position of 
the Company and enable them to ensure that the financial statements and the Directors’ Remuneration Report 
comply with the Companies Act 2006. They are also responsible for safeguarding the assets of the Company 
and hence for taking reasonable steps for the prevention and detection of fraud and other irregularities.

The Directors have delegated responsibility to the Manager for the maintenance and integrity of the Company’s 
page of the Manager’s website. Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination 
of financial statements may differ from legislation in other jurisdictions.

The work carried out by the Auditor does not involve any consideration of these matters and, accordingly, the 
Auditor accepts no responsibility for any changes that may have occurred to the financial statements since 
they were initially presented on the website.

Each of the Directors, whose names and functions are listed within the Directors, Manager and Advisers 
section confirm that, to the best of their knowledge:

•	 the financial statements, which have been prepared in accordance with applicable law and United Kingdom 
Accounting Standards (United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice), give a true and fair 
view of the assets, liabilities, financial position and net return of the Company; and

•	 the Directors’ Report includes a fair review of the development and performance of the business and the 
position of the Company, together with a description of the principal risks and uncertainties that it faces.

By order of the Board 

Julian Cazalet

27 February 2013

Notes

The following notes relate to financial statements published on a website and are not included in the printed 
version of the Annual Report and Financial Statements:

 ▯ The maintenance and integrity of the Herald Investment Management Limited website is the responsibility 
of Herald Investment Management Limited; the work carried out by the auditors does not involve 
consideration of these matters and accordingly, the auditors accept no responsibility for any changes that 
may have occurred to the financial statements since they were initially presented on the website.

 ▯ Legislation in the United Kingdom governing the preparation and dissemination of financial statements 
may differ from legislation in other jurisdiction.
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InDePenDent AUDItoR’s RePoRt

to tHe MeMBeRs oF HeRALD InvestMent tRUst plc

We have audited the financial statements of Herald Investment Trust plc for the year ended 31 December 2012 
which comprise the Income Statement, the Balance Sheet, the Reconciliation of Movements in Shareholders’ 
Funds, the Cash Flow Statement and the related notes 1 to 20. The financial reporting framework that has been 
applied in their preparation is applicable law and United Kingdom Accounting Standards (United Kingdom 
Generally Accepted Accounting Practice).

This report is made solely to the Company’s members, as a body, in accordance with Chapter 3 of Part 16 of the 
Companies Act 2006. Our audit work has been undertaken so that we might state to the Company’s members 
those matters we are required to state to them in an auditor’s report and for no other purpose. To the fullest 
extent permitted by law, we do not accept or assume responsibility to anyone other than the Company and 
the Company’s members as a body, for our audit work, for this report, or for the opinions we have formed. 

Respective Responsibilities of Directors and Auditor
As explained more fully in the Statement of Directors’ Responsibilities set out on page 33, the Directors are 
responsible for the preparation of the financial statements and for being satisfied that they give a true and 
fair view. Our responsibility is to audit and express an opinion on the financial statements in accordance with 
applicable law and International Standards on Auditing (UK and Ireland). Those standards require us to comply 
with the Auditing Practices Board’s Ethical Standards for Auditors.

scope of the Audit of the Financial statements
An audit involves obtaining evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the financial statements sufficient 
to give reasonable assurance that the financial statements are free from material misstatement, whether caused 
by fraud or error. This includes an assessment of: whether the accounting policies are appropriate to the 
Company’s circumstances and have been consistently applied and adequately disclosed; the reasonableness of 
significant accounting estimates made by the Directors; and the overall presentation of the financial statements. 
In addition, we read all the financial and non-financial information in the Annual Report and Financial Statements 
to identify material inconsistencies with the audited financial statements. If we become aware of any apparent 
material misstatements or inconsistencies we consider the implications for our report. 

opinion on Financial statements
In our opinion the financial statements:

•	 give a true and fair view of the state of the Company’s affairs as at 31 December 2012 and of its net return 
for the year then ended;

•	 have been properly prepared in accordance with United Kingdom Generally Accepted Accounting Practice; 
and

•	 have been prepared in accordance with the requirements of the Companies Act 2006.

opinion on other matters prescribed by the Companies Act 2006
In our opinion:

•	 the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited has been properly prepared in accordance 
with the Companies Act 2006; and

•	 the information given in the Directors’ Report for the financial year for which the financial statements are 
prepared is consistent with the financial statements.
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Matters on which we are required to report by exception
We have nothing to report in respect of the following:

Under the Companies Act 2006 we are required to report to you if, in our opinion:

•	 adequate accounting records have not been kept, or returns adequate for our audit have not been received 
from branches not visited by us; or

•	 the financial statements and the part of the Directors’ Remuneration Report to be audited are not in 
agreement with the accounting records and returns; or

•	 certain disclosures of Directors’ remuneration specified by law are not made; or

•	 we have not received all the information and explanations we require for our audit.

Under the Listing Rules we are required to review:

•	 the Directors’ Statement, set out on page 26, in relation to going concern;

•	 the part of the Corporate Governance Statement relating to the Company’s compliance with the nine 
provisions of the UK Corporate Governance Code specified for our review; and

•	 certain elements of the report to the shareholders by the Board on Directors’ remuneration.

Amarjit Singh, Senior Statutory Auditor
for and on behalf of Ernst & Young LLP 
Statutory Auditor
London 

27 February 2013

InDePenDent AUDItoR’s RePoRt continued
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InCoMe stAteMent
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER

notes
Revenue

£’000

2012
Capital
£’000

total
£’000

Revenue
£’000

2011
Capital
£’000

total
£’000

Gains/(losses) on investments 14 – 54,673 54,673 – (25,012) (25,012)

Currency losses 14 – (39) (39) – (66) (66)

Income 2 9,164 – 9,164 9,171 – 9,171

Investment management fee 3 (4,950) – (4,950) (4,752) – (4,752)

Other administrative expenses 4 (329) – (329) (350) – (350)

net return before finance  
 costs and taxation 3,885 54,634 58,519 4,069 (25,078) (21,009)

Finance costs of borrowings 5 (2,998) – (2,998) (2,978) – (2,978)

net return on ordinary  
 activities before taxation 887 54,634 55,521 1,091 (25,078) (23,987)

Tax on ordinary activities 6 (137) – (137) (144) – (144)

net return on ordinary  
 activities after taxation 750 54,634 55,384 947 (25,078) (24,131)

net return per  
 ordinary share 8 0.94p 68.78p 69.72p 1.19p (31.43p) (30.24p)

A final dividend for the year of 1.00p (2011 – 1.00p) per Ordinary share is proposed. More information on 
dividend distributions can be found in Note 7 on page 43.

The total column of this statement is the profit and loss account of the Company.

All revenue and capital items in the above statement derive from continuing operations. No operations were 
acquired or discontinued during the year.

A Statement of Total Recognised Gains and Losses is not required as all gains and losses of the Company have 
been reflected in the above statement.

The accompanying notes on pages 40 to 54 are an integral part of the financial statements.
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BALAnCe sHeet
AT 31 DECEMBER

The accompanying notes on pages 40 to 54 are an integral part of the financial statements.

notes
2012

£’000
2012

£’000
2011

£’000
2011

£’000

Fixed assets  

Investments held at fair value through  
 profit or loss 9 543,142 488,689

Current assets

Debtors 10 1,985 1,947

Cash and short term deposits 17 28,950 30,021

30,935 31,968

Creditors:

Amounts falling due within one year 11 (51,834) (51,001)

Derivative financial instruments 12 (20,297) (20,357)

(72,131) (71,358)

Net current liabilities (41,196) (39,390)

totAL net Assets 501,946 449,299

Capital and reserves

Called up share capital 13 19,830 19,924

Share premium 14 73,738 73,738

Capital redemption reserve 14 2,122 2,028

Capital reserve 14 403,415 350,721

Revenue reserve 14 2,841 2,888

sHAReHoLDeRs’ FUnDs 501,946 449,299

net Asset vALUe PeR  
 oRDInARY sHARe  
 (including current year income) 15 632.78p 563.75p

net Asset vALUe PeR  
 oRDInARY sHARe  
 (excluding current year income) 631.84p 562.56p

The financial statements of Herald Investment Trust plc (Company Registration No. 02879728) were approved 
by the Board of Directors and authorised for issue on 27 February 2013 and signed on its behalf by

Julian Cazalet 
Chairman
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ReConCILIAtIon oF MoveMents In sHAReHoLDeRs’ FUnDs

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2012

notes

Called up
share

capital
£’000

share
premium

£’000

Capital
redemption

reserve
£’000

Capital
reserve

£’000

Revenue
reserve

£’000

share-
holders’

funds
£’000

Shareholders’ funds
 at 1 January 2012 19,924 73,738 2,028 350,721 2,888 449,299

Net return on ordinary
 activities after taxation – – – 54,634 750 55,384

Shares bought back 13 (94) – 94 (1,940) – (1,940)

Dividends paid during 
 the year 7 – – – – (797) (797)

shareholders’ funds at
 31 December 2012  19,830 73,738 2,122 403,415 2,841 501,946

FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER 2011

notes

Called up
share

capital
£’000

share
premium

£’000

Capital
redemption

reserve
£’000

Capital
reserve

£’000

Revenue
reserve

£’000

share-
holders’

funds
£’000

Shareholders’ funds
 at 1 January 2011 19,978 73,738 1,974 376,931 1,941 474,562

Net return on ordinary
 activities after taxation – – – (25,078) 947 (24,131)

Shares bought back 13 (54) _ 54 (1,132) _ (1,132)

shareholders’ funds at
 31 December 2011  19,924 73,738 2,028 350,721 2,888 449,299

The accompanying notes on pages 40 to 54 are an integral part of the financial statements.
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CAsH FLoW stAteMent
FOR THE YEAR ENDED 31 DECEMBER

The accompanying notes on pages 40 to 54 are an integral part of the financial statements.

notes
2012

£’000
2012

£’000
2011

£’000
2011

£’000

net cash inflow from  
 operating activities 16 3,526 3,547

servicing of finance

Loan and derivative interest (2,998) (2,935)

net cash outflow from servicing  
 of finance (2,998) (2,935)

Financial investment

Purchase of investments (63,903) (89,449)

Sale of investments 65,041 80,493

net cash inflow/(outflow)  
 from financial investment 1,138 (8,956)

equity dividend paid 7 (797) –

net cash inflow/(outflow) 
 before financing 869 (8,344)

Financing

Bank loans drawn down 11 – 25,000

Bank loans repaid 11 – (25,000)

Shares repurchased 13 (1,940) (1,132)

net cash outflow from financing (1,940) (1,132)

Decrease in cash 17 (1,071) (9,476)

Reconciliation of net cash flow  
 to movement in net debt 17

Decrease in cash for period (1,071) (9,476)

Movement in net debt 
 in period (1,071) (9,476)

net debt at 1 January (19,979) (10,503)

net debt at 31 December (21,050) (19,979)
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1. Accounting policies
The financial statements for the year to 31 December 2012 have been prepared on the basis of the accounting 
policies set out below, which are consistent with those in the Company’s Annual Report and Financial Statements 
at 31 December 2011.

(a) Accounting convention
 The financial statements are prepared on the assumption that approval as an investment trust will be retained. 

 The Directors consider the Company’s functional currency to be sterling as the Company’s shareholders are 
predominantly based in the UK and the Company is subject to the UK’s regulatory environment.

 The financial statements have been prepared in accordance with The Companies Act 2006, applicable UK 
accounting standards and with the Statement of Recommended Practice ‘Financial Statements of Investment 
Trust Companies and Venture Capital Trusts’ (issued January 2009).

 In order to better reflect the activities of the Company and in accordance with guidance issued by the AIC, 
supplementary information which analyses the profit and loss account between items of a revenue and capital 
nature has been presented in the Income Statement.

 Financial assets and financial liabilities are recognised in the Company’s balance sheet when it becomes a party 
to the contractual provisions of the instrument.

(b) Investments
 Purchases and sales of investments are accounted for on a trade date basis.

 All investments are designated at fair value through profit or loss upon initial recognition and are measured at 
subsequent reporting dates at fair value. The fair value of listed security investments is bid value. Investments 
on the Alternative Investment Market are included at their bid value. The fair value of unlisted investments uses 
valuation techniques determined by the Directors on the basis of latest information in line with the relevant 
principles of the International Private Equity and Venture Capital Valuation Guidelines.

 Gains and losses arising from changes in the fair value of investments are taken to capital reserve.

(c) Income
 Dividend income is accounted for when the entitlement to the income is established (normally on the ex-

dividend date). Franked income is stated net of tax credits. Unfranked investment income includes the taxes 
deducted at source. Interest from fixed interest securities is recognised on an effective yield basis. Underwriting 
commission and interest receivable on deposits are recognised on an accruals basis.

(d) Expenses
 All expenses are accounted for on an accruals basis and are charged through the revenue column of the Income 

Statement except where they relate directly to the acquisition or disposal of an investment (transaction costs) 
and are taken to the Income Statement as a capital item.

(e) Finance costs
 Finance costs are accounted for on an accruals basis and are charged through the revenue column of the 

Income Statement.

(f) Financial instruments
 The Company uses interest rate swaps to hedge the cash flow risk arising from interest rate fluctuations. The 

swap is marked to fair value. The fair value is estimated based on the swap provider’s valuation and is compared 
to an external model and external prices. Gains or losses arising on the fair value of the interest rate swap during 
the year are taken to the income statement as a capital item.

 In accordance with FRS 26: ‘Financial Instruments: Measurement’, derivative instruments are valued at fair 
value and are included in current assets or current liabilities in the balance sheet. 

(g)  Deferred taxation
 Deferred taxation is provided on all timing differences which have originated but not reversed at the balance 

sheet date, calculated on an undiscounted basis, and based on enacted tax rates relevant to the benefit or 
liability. Deferred tax assets are recognised only to the extent that it is more likely than not that there will be 
taxable profits from which underlying timing differences can be deducted.
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1. Accounting policies (continued)
(h) Foreign currency
 Transactions in foreign currencies are recorded at the rate ruling at the date of the transaction. Monetary assets 

and loans denominated in foreign currencies are retranslated at the rate of exchange ruling at the balance sheet 
date. Exchange differences of a revenue nature are taken to the revenue account. Those of a capital nature are 
taken to capital reserve.

(i)  Capital reserve
 Gains and losses on disposal of investments, changes in investment holding gains/(losses), realised exchange 

differences of a capital nature and purchases of the Company’s own shares for cancellation are dealt with in 
this reserve.

(j) Use of estimates
 The preparation of financial statements requires the Company to make judgements, estimates and assumptions 

that affect amounts reported for assets and liabilities as at the balance sheet date and the amounts reported for 
revenues and expenses during the year. However, the nature of estimation means that the actual outcomes 
could differ from those estimates, possibly significantly. The judgements relate to the investments where there 
is no appropriate market price i.e. the unlisted investments and the interest rate swap.

2. Income 
2012

£’000
2011

£’000

Income from investments
Franked dividends from listed investments 3,977 4,024
Franked dividends from unlisted investments (inc AIM) 2,216 2,532
Unfranked income from unlisted (inc AIM) UK convertible bonds 163 74
UK unfranked investment income 121 221
Overseas dividend income 1,457 1,214
UK interest 822 846
Overseas interest 295 180

9,051 9,091
other income
Deposit interest 113 80

total income 9,164 9,171

Total income comprises:
Dividends from equity securities designated at fair value through profit or loss 7,771 7,991
Interest from financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss 1,280 1,100
Deposit interest 113 80

9,164 9,171

3. Investment management fee
2012

£’000
2011

£’000

Investment management fee 4,950 4,752

Herald Investment Management Limited is appointed investment manager under a management agreement which 
is terminable on twelve months’ notice. Their fee is calculated on a monthly rate of 0.08333% of the Company’s net 
asset value based on middle market prices. The management fee is levied on all assets except the holding in Herald 
Ventures II Limited Partnership managed by Herald Investment Management Limited.
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4. other administrative expenses
2012

£’000
2011

£’000

Custodian’s fees 38 38
Registrars’ fees 40 41
Directors’ fees 88 78
Auditor’s fees – statutory audit 19 18
Miscellaneous expenses 144 175

329 350

5. Finance costs of borrowings
2012

£’000
2011

£’000

Bank loans repayable within one year 982 947
Interest on swap 2,016 2,031

2,998 2,978

6. tax on ordinary activities
2012

£’000
2011

£’000

Analysis of charge in year
Overseas taxation 137 144

 Factors affecting tax charge for year

The tax charge for the year is lower than the standard rate of corporation tax in the UK of 24.493% (2011 – 26.5%). 

The differences are explained below:

Net return on ordinary activities before taxation 55,521 (23,987)

Net return on ordinary activities multiplied by the standard rate of corporation tax 
in the UK of 24.493% (2011 – 26.5%) 13,599 (6,356)
Capital returns not taxable (13,382) 6,645
Dividends not subject to UK tax (1,903) (2,117)
Overseas withholding tax 137 144
Movement in excess management expenses 1,686 1,828
Current tax charge for the year 137 144

As an Investment Trust, the Company’s capital gains are not taxable.

There is no UK corporation tax charge at 31 December 2012 or 31 December 2011 as the Company has unrelieved 
management expenses which are available to be carried forward. The tax charge for 31 December 2012 and 2011 
comprises overseas withholding taxes written off.

At 31 December 2012, the Company had a potential deferred tax asset of £9,507,000 (2011 – £8,662,000) on taxable 
losses of £41 million (2011 – £35 million) which are available to be carried forward and offset against future taxable 
profits. A deferred tax asset has not been provided on these losses as it is considered unlikely that the Company 
will make taxable revenue profits in the future and it is not liable to tax on its capital gains. The potential deferred 
tax asset has been calculated using a corporation tax rate of 23% (2011 – 25%).
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7. ordinary dividends
2012 2011 2012

£’000
2011

£’000

Amounts recognised as distributions 
in the period:
Previous year’s final 1.00p – 797 –

Set out below are the total dividends payable in respect of the financial year, which is the basis on which the 
requirements of Section 1158 of the Corporation Tax Act 2010 are considered. The revenue available for distribution 
by way of dividend for the year ended 31 December 2012 is £750,000 (2011 – £947,000). 

2012 2011 2012
£’000

2011
£’000

Amounts paid and proposed in respect  
of the period:
Proposed final dividend per Ordinary share 1.00p 1.00p 793 797

The current year’s proposed dividend will be paid on 3 May 2013 to all shareholders on the register at the close of 
business on 12 April 2013. The ex-dividend date is 10 April 2013.

8. net return per ordinary share
2012

Revenue
2012

Capital
2012 
Total

2011
Revenue

2011
Capital

2011 
Total

0.94p 68.78p 69.72p 1.19p (31.43p) (30.24p)
 
Revenue return per Ordinary share is based on the net revenue return on ordinary activities after taxation of £750,000 
(2011 – £947,000) and on 79,437,013 Ordinary shares (2011 – 79,799,598) being the weighted average number 
of Ordinary shares in issue during the year.

Capital return per Ordinary share is based on the net capital gain for the financial year of £54,634,000 (2011 – net 
capital loss of £25,078,000) and on 79,437,013 Ordinary shares (2011 – 79,799,598) being the weighted average 
number of Ordinary shares in issue during the year.

There are no dilutive or potentially dilutive shares in issue.

9. Fixed assets – investments
2012

£’000
2011

£’000

Financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss on  
initial recognition
Listed UK  – equity investments  – London Stock Exchange 157,527 153,854
  – AIM 194,147 146,237
 – debt investments 17,816 16,445
Listed Overseas – equity investments 147,410 152,806
 – debt investments 14,015 9,791
Unquoted* 12,227 9,556
Total investments in financial assets at fair value through profit or loss 543,142 488,689
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9. Fixed assets – investments (continued)
Listed in

UK
£’000

Listed
overseas

£’000
AIM

£’000

 
 Unquoted *
 £’000

Total
£’000

Cost of investments at 1 January 2012 110,285 140,243 148,781 17,155 416,464
Investment holding gains/(losses) at 1 January 2012 60,014 22,354 (2,544) (7,599) 72,225

Fair value of investments at 1 January 2012 170,299 162,597 146,237 9,556 488,689

Movements in the year:
Purchases at cost 11,961 22,279 28,381 2,089 64,710
Sales  – proceeds (22,135) (29,473) (12,206) (944) (64,758)
 – gains/(losses) on sales 9,750 10,160 (7,225) (1,694) 10,991
Amortisation of fixed income book cost 161 (273) – – (112)
Changes in investment holding gains/(losses) 5,307 (3,865) 38,960 3,220 43,622
Fair value of investments at 31 December 2012 175,343 161,425 194,147 12,227 543,142

Cost of investments at 31 December 2012 110,022 142,936 157,731 16,606 427,295
Investment holding gains/(losses) at 31 December 2012 65,321 18,489 36,416 (4,379) 115,847
Fair value of investments at 31 December 2012 175,343 161,425 194,147 12,227 543,142

2012
£’000

2011
£’000

gains/(losses) on investments designated at fair value  
through profit or loss on initial recognition
Realised gains on sales 10,991 33,612
Changes in investment holding gains/(losses) 43,622 (47,204)

54,613 (13,592)

*The unquoted balance comprises Business Control Solutions at £325,000, Celoxica Holdings at Nil, Dealogic 
at £1,690,000, Freshwater UK at Nil, HIML Holdings Limited at £1,450,000, Herald Ventures II at £1,722,000, 
Intechnology at £1,286,000, Intelligent Energy at Nil, Invu Convertible loan notes at £22,000, Servicepower 
Technologies Convertible loan stock at £256,000, Social Go Warrants at Nil, Ten Alps Loan Notes at £3,057,000, 
Zoo Digital at £451,000, Atex at Nil and Green Plug at £1,968,000.

The investments in the equity and fixed interest stocks of unlisted companies that the Company holds are not traded 
and as such the prices are more uncertain than those of more widely traded securities. The fair value of unlisted 
investments uses valuation techniques determined by the Directors on the basis of latest information in line with 
the relevant principles of the International Private Equity and Venture Capital Valuation Guidelines as described 
in note 1(b). The fair value of unlisted investments at 31 December 2012 was £12,227,000 (2011 – £9,556,000).

At 31 December 2012 the Company was the beneficial owner of 14.5% (2011 – 14.3%) of the Ordinary share 
capital of HIML Holdings Limited. HIML Holdings Limited is incorporated in the United Kingdom and is the parent 
company of the Company’s Manager.

2012
£’000

2011
£’000

transaction costs
The following transaction costs were incurred during the period:
Purchases 310 424
Sales 218 198

528 622
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10. Debtors
2012

£’000
2011

£’000

Due within one year: 
Income accrued and prepayments 1,899 1,576
Sales for subsequent settlement 68 351
Taxation recoverable 12 6
Other debtors 6 14

1,985 1,947

None of the above debtors are financial assets designated at fair value through profit or loss. The carrying amount 
of debtors is a reasonable approximation of fair value. 

11. Creditors
2012

£’000
2011

£’000

Amounts falling due within one year:
Purchases for subsequent settlement 807 –
Bank loans 50,000 50,000
Swap interest 401 359
Other creditors and accruals 626 642

51,834 51,001

None of the above creditors are financial liabilities designated at fair value through profit or loss. Included in other 
creditors and accruals is £421,000 (2011 – £375,000) in respect of the investment management fee.

The Company has a £50 million multi-currency variable rate loan facility with The Royal Bank of Scotland plc, which 
comprises two £25 million tranches expiring in May 2013. This was replaced on 6 February 2013 with a £50 million 
multi-currency variable rate loan facility maturing 31 December 2014.

At 31 December 2012, there were outstanding drawings of £50 million (2011 – £50 million). Interest on the loans 
is payable in quarterly instalments in January, April, July and October. The estimated repayment value of the loan 
at 31 December 2012 was £50 million. The indicative costs of repaying the loan as at 31 December 2012 were not 
materially different in the context of the above figures.

The interest on the £50 million facility has been fixed for the long term through a 30 year interest rate swap but 
may vary on periodic renewals of the debt facility to the extent that the mark up over LIBOR charged by a lending 
bank varies. The fair value of the interest rate swap contract at 31 December 2012 was an estimated liability of  
£20.3 million (2011 – £20.4 million) which was based on the swap provider’s valuation.

The loan has been disclosed as due within one year as the Company has an unconditional and irrevocable right to 
prepay the advance under the terms and conditions of the loan agreement. The duration of the advance is 1, 3 or 6 
months and the decision to rollover the loan is made at quarterly board meetings based on circumstances prevailing 
at the time. The decision to continue with the swap arrangement is reviewed at the same time as the loan agreement.

The main covenants relating to the loan are:

1. Total borrowings shall not exceed 25% of the Company’s Gross Assets adjusted by deducting:

(i) the market value of any unlisted investments (excluding AIM);

(ii) the amount by which the market value of any single investment represents more than 7.5% of the Company’s 
gross assets; and

(iii) the amount by which the aggregate market value of the ten largest investments exceeds 35% of gross assets.

2. The ratio of quoted assets to total borrowings shall not be less than 3:1.
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12. Derivative financial instruments
2012

Notional
contract
amount

£’000

2012
Fair

value
assets
£’000

2012
Fair

value
liabilities

£’000

2012
Fair

value
balance

£’000

2011
Notional
contract
amount

£’000

2011
Fair

value
assets
£’000

2011
Fair

value
liabilities

£’000

2011
Fair

value
balance

£’000

Total derivative 
assets/(liabilities) 50,000 27,569 (47,866) (20,297) 50,000 27,551 (47,908) (20,357)

The fair value is estimated based on the swap provider’s valuation and is compared to an external model and external 
prices. The swap provider does not disclose the basis of its valuation methodology or assumptions and may change 
these at any time at its sole discretion. The swap valuation gives an indication of fair value, but the price at which 
the swap can be unwound or realised may diverge materially from this valuation depending on market conditions 
and liquidity. The fair value of the swap at 31 December 2012 was a liability of £20,297,000 (2011 – £20,357,000).

13. Called up share capital
2012

Number
2012

£’000
2011

Number
2011

£’000

Allotted, called up and fully paid:
Ordinary shares of 25p: 79,323,283 19,830 79,698,283 19,924

At the Annual General Meeting in April 2012, Shareholders granted the Company authority to purchase shares in 
the market up to 11,946,772 Ordinary shares (equivalent to 14.99% of its issued share capital at that date). During 
the year to 31 December 2012, a total of 375,000 (2011 – 215,000) Ordinary shares with a nominal value of £93,750 
(2011 – £53,750) were bought back at a total cost of £1,940,000 (2011 – £1,132,000). At 31 December 2012 the 
Company had authority to buy back a further 11,571,772 Ordinary shares. Under the provisions of the Company’s 
Articles share buy-backs are funded from the capital reserve.

 14. Capital and reserves 

Share
premium

£’000

Capital
redemption

reserve
£’000

Capital
reserve

£’000

Revenue 
reserve

£’000

At 1 January 2012 73,738 2,028 350,721 2,888
Shares purchased for cancellation – 94 (1,940) –
Gains on sales – – 10,991 –
Changes in investment holding gains – – 43,622 –
Movement in fair value of interest rate swap – – 60 –
Other exchange differences – – (39) –
Dividends paid during the year – – – (797)
Revenue return on ordinary activities after taxation – – – 750
Balance at 31 December 2012 73,738 2,122 403,415 2,841

The capital reserve includes investment holding gains of £115,847,000 (2011 – £72,225,000) as disclosed in note 9. 

The revenue reserve represents the only reserve from which dividends can be funded.

15. net asset value per ordinary share
The net asset value per Ordinary share and the net assets attributable to the Ordinary shareholders at the year end 
calculated in accordance with the Articles of Association were as follows:

2012 2011 2012
£’000

2011
£’000

Ordinary shares 632.78p 563.75p 501,946 449,299

Net asset value per Ordinary share is based on net assets as shown above and on 79,323,283 (2011 – 79,698,283) 
Ordinary shares, being the number of Ordinary shares in issue at each date.
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16. Reconciliation of net return before finance costs and taxation  
 to net cash inflow from operating activities

2012
£’000

2011
£’000

Net return on ordinary activities before finance costs and taxation 58,519 (21,009)
(Gains)/losses on investments (54,673) 25,012
Currency losses 39 66
Increase in accrued income (287) (307)
(Increase)/decrease in other debtors (31) 23
Increase/(decrease) in creditors 26 (7)
Amortisation of fixed income book cost 112 (25)
Income tax (suffered)/repaid (3) 4
Overseas tax suffered (137) (144)
Realised currency loss (39) (66)
Net cash inflow from operating activities 3,526 3,547

17. Analysis of changes in net debt 
At 

1 January
2012

£’000

Cash
flows
£’000

At
31 December

2012 
£’000

Cash at bank and in hand 30,021 (1,071) 28,950
Loans due within one year (50,000) – (50,000)

(19,979) (1,071) (21,050)

18. Contingent liabilities, guarantees and financial commitments
There were no contingent liabilities guarantees or financial commitments at 31 December 2012. The Company’s 
commitment to participate in Herald Ventures II Limited Partnership was fully drawn down by 31 December 2011.

19.  Capital management
The Company does not have any externally imposed capital requirements. The capital of the Company is the 
Ordinary share capital and reserves as detailed in notes 13 and 14. It is managed in accordance with its investment 
policy in pursuit of its investment objective, both of which are detailed on page 22, and shares may be repurchased 
as explained on pages 29 and 30. 

20. Financial instruments
In accordance with the corporate objective of maximising capital appreciation the Company invests in securities on a 
worldwide basis. The Company makes use of gearing to achieve improved performance in rising markets and has an 
interest rate swap, the purpose of which is to hedge the variability in cash flows arising from interest rate fluctuations 
on bank loans. The Company’s other financial instruments consist of cash, short term debtors and creditors.

The main risks arising from the Company’s financial instruments are:

A. Market Risk
(i) Other price risk, being the risk that the value of investment holdings will fluctuate as a result of changes 

in market prices caused by factors other than interest rate or currency rate movement;

(ii) Interest rate risk, being the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will fluctuate 
because of changes in market interest rates; and

(iii) Foreign currency risk, being the risk that the fair value or future cash flows of a financial instrument will 
fluctuate because of changes in foreign exchange rates.

B. Credit Risk
 Being the risk that one party to a financial instrument will cause a financial loss for the other party by failing to 

discharge an obligation.
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20. Financial instruments (continued)
C. Liquidity Risk
 Being the risk that an entity will encounter difficulty in meeting obligations associated with financial liabilities.

These risks and the policies for managing them have been applied throughout the year and are summarised below. 
Further detail is contained in the Business Review – Investment Policy section on page 22.

A. Market Risk
(i) other Price Risk 
 The Company’s investment portfolio is exposed to market price fluctuations which are monitored by the 

Manager in pursuance of the corporate objective. Securities held by the Company are valued at bid prices, 
whereas material unlisted investments are valued by the Directors on the basis of the latest information in 
line with the relevant principles of the International Private Equity and Venture Capital Valuation Guidelines 
(Accounting Policy (b)). These valuations also represent the fair value of the investments, see note 9 on 
pages 43 and 44. 

 A full list of the Company’s investments is given on pages 16 to 20. In addition, a geographical analysis of 
the portfolio, an analysis of the investment portfolio by broad industrial or commercial sector and a review 
of the 20 largest equity investments by their aggregate market value, are shown on pages 12 to 15.

 Other Price Risk Sensitivity  
29.9% of the Company’s equity investments at 31 December 2012 (2011 – 33.6%) were listed on the 
main list of the London Stock Exchange and a further 38.0% (2011 – 31.6%) on AIM. The NASDAQ Stock 
Exchange accounts for 20.9% (2011 – 24.2%) and other stock exchanges 8.3% (2011 – 9.2%). A 10% 
increase in stock prices at 31 December 2012 would have increased total net assets and net return on 
ordinary activities after taxation by £51,100,000 (2011 – £46,200,000). A decrease of 10% would have 
had an equal but opposite effect. The portfolio does not target any exchange as a comparative index, and 
the performance of the portfolio has a low correlation to generally used indices.

 The shares of Herald Investment Trust plc have an underlying NAV per share. The NAV per share of Herald 
Investment Trust plc fluctuates on a daily basis. In addition, there is volatility in the discount/premium the 
share price has to NAV.

(ii) Interest Rate Risk  
 The majority of the Company’s assets are equity shares and other investments which neither pay interest 

nor have a maturity date. However, the Company does hold Convertible Bonds and Government Securities, 
the interest rate and maturity dates of which are detailed below. Interest is accrued on sterling cash balances 
at a rate linked to the UK base rate.

  The Company has borrowings. The aim of the use of gearing is to enhance long term returns to shareholders 
by investing borrowed funds in equities and other assets. Gearing is actively managed. How and where 
borrowings are invested is reviewed by the Board in consultation with the Manager at every Board 
meeting. In light of the decisions made, appropriate adjustments to the gearing position are then made 
by the Manager.

 At the year end the Company had borrowings of £50 million (2011 – £50 million). Under the terms of an 
interest rate swap, the interest payable on the bank loans has been fixed.

 The interest rate risk profile of the financial assets and financial liabilities at 31 December was:

 Financial Assets

2012
Fair

value
£’000

2012
Weighted

average
interest

rate/
interest

rate

2012
Weighted

average
period

until
maturity/

maturity
date

2011
Fair

value
£’000

2011
Weighted

average
interest

rate/
interest

rate

2011
Weighted

average
period

until
maturity/

maturity
date

Fixed rate:

UK bonds 17,816 4.7% 4 years 16,445 4.9% 5 years

Euro bonds 14,015 5.0% 4 years 9,791 4.4% 6 years
UK convertible bonds 729 7.5% 2 years 1,162 7.5% 3 years

Cash:

Other overseas currencies 6,341 1,762
Sterling 22,609 0.7% 28,259 0.3%

28,950 30,021
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20. Financial instruments (continued)
(ii) Interest Rate Risk (continued) 

 The cash deposits generally comprise call or short term money market deposits with original maturities of 
less than 3 months which are repayable on demand. The benchmark rate which determines the interest 
payments received on cash balances is the bank base rate.

 Financial Liabilities 

2012
£’000

2012
Net 

interest
rate paid 

2012
Loan

facility
expired/

expires
2011

£’000

2011
Net 

interest
rate paid 

2011
Loan

facility
expired/

expires

Bank Loan 25,000 1.7% May 2013 25,000 1.3% May 2011

25,000 2.4% May 2013 25,000 1.6% May 2013

25,000 2.4% May 2013

2.1% 1.9%

Swap 50,000 4.0% 50,000 4.1%
Total 6.1% 6.0%

 The effective fixed rate of interest on the loans of 6.1% (2011 – 6.0%) reflects a weighted average variable 
interest rate paid of 2.1% (2011 – 1.9%), with a further weighted average of 4.0% paid on the swap (2011 
– 4.1%). The Company’s facilities are rolling on a quarterly basis with the facilities expiring in May 2013. 
While the 30 year swap remains in place, the net interest payable will effectively be fixed for the duration 
of the term of the loan facilities.

2012
Notional
contract
amount

£’000

2012
Fair

value
assets
£’000

2012
Fair

value
liabilities

£’000

2012
Fair

value
balance

£’000

2011
Notional
contract
amount

£’000

2011
Fair

value
assets
£’000

2011
Fair

value
liabilities

£’000

2011
Fair

value
balance

£’000

Total derivative 
assets/(liabilities) 50,000 27,569 (47,866) (20,297) 50,000 27,551 (47,908) (20,357)

 Interest rate risk sensitivity 
 (a) Cash  

An increase of 100 basis points in interest rates as at 31 December 2012 would have a direct effect on net 
assets. Based on the position at 31 December 2012, over a full year, an increase of 100 basis points would 
have increased the net return on ordinary activities after taxation by £290,000 (2011 – £300,000) and would 
have increased the net asset value per share by 0.36p (2011 – 0.38p). The calculations are based on the 
cash balances as at the respective balance sheet dates and are not representative of the year as a whole.

 (b) Fixed rate bonds  
An increase of 100 basis points in bond yields as at 31 December 2012 would have decreased total net 
assets and total return on ordinary activities by £980,000 (2011 – £817,000) and would have decreased the 
net asset value per share by 1.24p (2011 – 1.02p). A decrease in bond yields would have had an equal and 
opposite effect. The Convertible loan stocks having an element of equity are not included in this analysis 
as given the nature of the businesses and the risk profile of the balance sheets they are considered to 
have more equity like characteristics.

 (c) Bank loans  
The effect of an increase or decrease of 100 basis points in 3 month LIBOR interest rates as at 31 December 
2012 on the interest cost of the bank loans and the net income return has been eliminated through a 30 year 
floating interest rate to fixed interest rate swap. The swap generates payments or charges that offset changes 
in the 3 month LIBOR interest rate, so that the interest payable on the bank loans is effectively converted to a 
fixed rate loan at 4.8975% (2011 – 4.8975%) plus margin cost. The initial term of the swap on commencement 
at 30 years did not match the term of the loans, therefore, hedge accounting is not used and changes in the 
fair value of the swap are captured in the net return on ordinary activities as set out in (d) below. 
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20. Financial instruments (continued)
 Interest rate risk sensitivity (continued)
 (d) Floating interest rate to fixed interest rate swap  

A decrease of 100 basis points on 30 year interest rates as at 31 December 2012 would have a direct 
effect on the fair value of the swap and net assets. Based on the position as at 31 December 2012, over 
a full year, a decrease of 100 basis points would have decreased the gains on investments and net return 
on ordinary activities after taxation by £11,941,000 (2011 – £12,020,000) and would have decreased the 
net asset value per share by 15.05p (2011 – 15.08p). An increase of 100 basis points would have had an 
equal but opposite effect.

(iii) Foreign Currency Risk 
 The Company’s reporting currency is sterling, but investments are made in overseas markets as well as the 

United Kingdom and the asset value can be affected by movements in foreign currency exchange rates.

 Furthermore many companies trade internationally both through foreign subsidiaries, and through exports. 
The greatest foreign currency risk occurs when companies have a divergence in currencies for costs and 
revenues. A much less risky exposure to currency is straight translation of sales and profits. The List of 
Investments on pages 16 to 20 breaks down the portfolio by geographic listing. However the location of 
the stock market quote only has a limited correlation to the costs, revenues and even activities of those 
companies, and so this note should not be regarded as a reliable guide to the sensitivity of the portfolio 
to currency movements. For example, the holdings in the portfolio that have suffered most from US$ 
weakness are UK companies with dollar revenues and sterling costs.

 The Company does not hedge the sterling value of investments that are priced in other currencies. Overseas 
income is subject to currency fluctuations. The Company does not hedge these currency fluctuations 
because it is impossible to quantify the effect for the reasons stated above. However, from time to time 
the Manager takes a view by holding financial assets or liabilities in overseas currencies.

 Exposure to currency risk through asset allocation by currency of listing is indicated below:

 At 31 December 2012 

Investments
£’000

Cash and
deposits

£’000
Loans
£’000

 Other
 debtors
 and
 creditors *
 £’000

Net
exposure

£’000

US dollar 107,482 146 – (68) 107,560
Norwegian krone 17,326 – – – 17,326
Korean won 14,609 – – 26 14,635
Taiwan dollar 7,706 6,195 – – 13,901
Euro 9,296 – – 403 9,699
Other overseas currencies 6,974 – – – 6,974

Exposure to currency risk on 
translation of valuations of 
securities listed in overseas 
currencies 163,393 6,341 – 361 170,095
Sterling 379,749 22,609 (50,000) (20,507) 331,851

543,142 28,950 (50,000) (20,146) 501,946

 *Includes net non-monetary assets of £38,000.
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notes to tHe FInAnCIAL stAteMents continued

20. Financial instruments (continued)
(iii) Foreign Currency Risk (continued) 

 At 31 December 2011 

Investments
£’000

Cash and
deposits

£’000
Loans
£’000

 Other
 debtors
 and
 creditors *
 £’000

Net
exposure

£’000

US dollar 113,211 1 – 3 113,215
Korean won 15,351 – – 5 15,356
Norwegian krone 11,046 – – 232 11,278
Taiwan dollar 10,343 1,761 – – 12,104
Euro 8,051 – – (19) 8,032
Other overseas currencies 6,397 – – – 6,397

Exposure to currency risk on 
translation of valuations of 
securities listed in overseas 
currencies 164,399 1,762 – 221 166,382
Sterling 324,290 28,259 (50,000) (19,632) 282,917

488,689 30,021 (50,000) (19,411) 449,299

 *Includes net non-monetary assets of £32,000.

 Foreign currency risk sensitivity  
At 31 December 2012, had sterling strengthened by 10% (2011 – 10%) in relation to all currencies, 
with all other variables held constant, total net assets and net return on ordinary activities after taxation 
would have decreased by the amounts shown below based solely on translation of securities quoted 
in currencies overseas. A 10% (2011 – 10%) weakening of sterling against all currencies, with all other 
variables held constant, would have had an equal but opposite effect on the financial statement amounts. 
However, companies whose cost base diverges in currency terms from its sales will in the longer term have 
a significantly greater effect on valuation than simple translation. In the short term investee companies 
generally cover their currency exposure to varying degrees. There is insufficient publicly disclosed 
information to quantify this, but in the long term this effect is expected to dwarf simple translation of foreign 
listings in terms of both risk and reward, because many investee companies trade globally. Furthermore, 
the country of listing is not necessarily an indication of the geography of some or even any operational 
activities for investee companies. The Manager does not use financial instruments to protect against 
currency movements. From time to time financial leverage has been made using debt in overseas currencies.

2012
£’000

2011
£’000

US dollar 10,756 11,321
Norwegian krone 1,733 1,128
Korean won 1,463 1,536
Taiwan dollar 1,390 1,210
Euro 970 803
Other overseas currencies 697 640

17,009 16,638

B. Credit Risk
 Credit risk is the risk that a counterparty to a financial instrument will fail to discharge an obligation or commitment 

which it has entered into with the Company. The Manager monitors counterparty risk on an ongoing basis.

 The Company has investments in convertible loan stocks that have an element of equity. These securities 
are viewed as having a risk profile similar to the equity holdings. This is because the convertibles held are in 
nascent technology companies that may be loss making and may have weak balance sheets. For this reason 
these stocks are categorised as equity holdings.

 The fixed interest securities held are UK and Norwegian Government securities and UK corporate bonds.
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20. Financial instruments (continued)
B. Credit Risk (continued) 
 Credit Risk Exposure

The exposure to credit risk at 31 December was:

2012
£’000

2011
£’000

Fixed interest investments 31,831 26,236
Cash and short term deposits 28,950 30,021
Debtors and prepayments 1,985 1,947

62,766 58,204

 The maximum exposure in fixed interest investments was £33,170,000 (2011 – £30,587,000) and the minimum 
£26,228,000 (2011 – £20,059,000). The maximum exposure in cash was £36,288,000 (2011 – £42,208,000) 
and the minimum £17,863,000 (2011 – £12,009,000).

 None of the Company’s financial assets are past due or impaired.

C. Liquidity Risk
 The Company’s policy with regard to liquidity is to provide a degree of flexibility so that the portfolio can be 

repositioned when appropriate and that most of the assets can be realised without an excessive discount to 
the market price. 

(a) Equity Securities

 The Company’s unlisted investments are not readily realisable, but these only amount to 2.1% of the 
Company’s total assets at 31 December 2012 (2011 – 1.8%).

 In practice, liquidity in investee companies is imperfect, particularly those with a market value of less than 
£100 million. To reduce this liquidity risk it is the policy to diversify the holdings and generally to restrict 
the holding in any one company to less than 10% of the share capital of that company. Furthermore the 
guideline is for no single investment to account for more than 5% of the assets of the Company.

 The market valuation of each underlying security gives an indication of value, but the price at which an 
investment can be made or realised can diverge materially from the bid or offer price depending on market 
conditions generally and particularly to each investment. 34% (£182 million) (2011 – 34% (£168 million)) 
of the portfolio is invested in listed stocks with a market capitalisation below £100 million, where liquidity 
is expected to be more limited. If these stocks had on average a realisable value 20% below the bid price 
the value of the total fund would be adversely affected by 6.7% (2011 – 6.9%).

(b) Floating interest rate to fixed interest rate swap

 The fair value of the swap is estimated by RBS the provider of the swap and is compared to an external 
model and external prices. We believe the RBS valuation to be reasonable. The RBS valuation methodology 
and assumptions may change at any time.

 The swap valuation gives an indication of fair value, but the price at which the swap can be unwound or 
realised may diverge materially from this valuation depending on market conditions and liquidity. 

 Liquidity Risk Exposure

 Contractual maturities of the financial liabilities at the year end, based on the earliest date on which payment  
can be required are as follows:

2012
One year

or less
£’000

2011
One year

or less
£’000

Bank loans 50,492 51,727
Derivative financial instruments 24,136 25,725
Other creditors 470 444

75,098 77,896
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20. Financial instruments (continued)
Fair value of Financial Instruments

Fair values are measured using the following fair value hierarchy: 

Level 1:  reflects financial instruments quoted in an active market.

Level 2:  reflects financial instruments whose fair value is evidenced by comparison with other observable current 
market transactions in the same instrument or based on a valuation technique whose variables includes 
only data from observable markets.

Level 3:  reflects financial instruments whose fair value is determined in whole or in part using a valuation technique 
based on assumptions that are not supported by prices from observable market transactions in the same 
instrument and not based on available observable market data.

The valuation techniques used by the Company are explained in the accounting policies on pages 40 and 41.

The tables below set out the fair value measurements using the fair value hierarchy.

At 31 December 2012

Level 1
£’000

Level 2
£’000

Level 3
£’000

Total
£’000

Financial assets
Equity investments 502,141 – 9,170 511,311
Government debt securities 23,020 – – 23,020
Other debt securities 5,754 – 3,057 8,811
Current assets 30,935 – – 30,935

Total assets 561,850 – 12,227 574,077
Financial liabilities
Bank loans 50,000 – – 50,000
Derivatives – 20,297 – 20,297
Current liabilities (excluding bank loans) 1,834 – – 1,834
Total liabilities 51,834 20,297 – 72,131
Total net assets 510,016 (20,297) 12,227 501,946

A reconciliation of fair value measurements in Level 3 is set out below:

At 31 December 2012

Equity 
Investments

£’000

Opening balance at 1 January 2012 9,556
Purchases 2,089
Sales (944)
Total gains or (losses):
– on assets sold during the year (1,694)
– on assets held at 31 December 2012 3,220
Closing balance at 31 December 2012 12,227
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20. Financial instruments (continued) 
At 31 December 2011

Level 1
£’000

Level 2
£’000

Level 3
£’000

Total
£’000

Financial assets
Equity investments 454,597 – 7,856 462,453
Government debt securities 18,934 – – 18,934
Other debt securities 5,602 – 1,700 7,302
Current assets 31,968 – – 31,968

Total assets 511,101 – 9,556 520,657
Financial liabilities
Bank loans 50,000 – – 50,000
Derivatives – 20,357 – 20,357
Current liabilities (excluding bank loans) 1,001 – – 1,001
Total liabilities 51,001 20,357 – 71,358
Total net assets 460,100 (20,357) 9,556 449,299

A reconciliation of fair value measurements in Level 3 is set out below:

At 31 December 2011

Equity 
Investments

£’000

Opening balance at 1 January 2011 3,900
Purchases 3,558
Sales (703)
Transfers into Level 3 2,469
Total gains or (losses):
– on assets sold during the year (1,088)
– on assets held at 31 December 2011 1,420
Closing balance at 31 December 2011 9,556

Transfers into Level 3 relate to investments for which listing has been suspended during the year. 
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notICe oF AnnUAL geneRAL MeetIng

Notice is hereby given that the Annual General Meeting of Herald Investment Trust plc will be held at 10–11 
Charterhouse Square, London EC1M 6EE on Tuesday 23 April 2013 at 11.30 am for the following purposes:

To consider and, if thought fit, approve resolutions 1 to 9 as ordinary resolutions and resolutions 10 to 12 as 
special resolutions.

ordinary Business
1. To receive and adopt the Directors’ Report, the Financial Statements and the Auditor’s Report in respect 

of the year ended 31 December 2012.

2. To approve the Directors’ Remuneration Report for the year ended 31 December 2012.

3. To declare a dividend of 1.00p per Ordinary share in respect of the year ended 31 December 2012.

4. To re-elect Mr CJ Cazalet as a Director of the Company.

5. To re-elect Mr TM Curtis as a Director of the Company.

6. To re-elect Mr DCP McDougall as a Director of the Company.

7. To re-elect Mr SW Newton as a Director of the Company.

8. To reappoint Ernst & Young LLP as Independent Auditor of the Company to hold office until the conclusion 
of the next Annual General Meeting at which financial statements are laid before the Company.

9. To authorise the Directors to determine the remuneration of the Independent Auditor.

special Business
10. That, pursuant to article 174 of the Articles of Association of the Company, the Company will continue 

to operate as an investment trust company until the conclusion of the Annual General Meeting of the 
Company to be held in 2016.

11. That, the Company be generally and subject as hereinafter appears unconditionally authorised in accordance 
with Section 701 of the Companies Act 2006 (the ‘Act’) to make market purchases (within the meaning 
of Section 693(4) of the Act) of its issued shares of 25p each in the capital of the Company in substitution 
for any existing authority under section 701 of the Act but without prejudice to any exercise of any such 
authority prior to the date hereof.

 PROVIDED ALWAYS THAT

(i) the maximum number of shares hereby authorised to be purchased shall be 14.99% of the issued share 
capital on the date on which this resolution is passed;

(ii) the minimum price which may be paid for a share shall be 25p;

(iii) the maximum price (exclusive of expenses) which may be paid for a share shall not be more than the 
higher of (a) 5% above the average closing price (as derived from the Daily Official List of the London 
Stock Exchange) for the shares for the five business days immediately preceding the date of purchase 
and (b) the higher of the last independent trade and the highest current independent bid on the London 
Stock Exchange;

(iv) any purchase of shares will be made in the market for cash at prices below the prevailing net asset 
value per share (as determined by the Directors);

(v) unless previously varied, revoked or renewed, the authority hereby conferred shall expire at the 
conclusion of the Annual General Meeting of the Company to be held in 2014; and

(vi) the Company may make a contract to purchase shares under the authority hereby conferred prior 
to the expiry of such authority and may make a purchase of shares pursuant to any such contract 
notwithstanding such expiry.

12. That, the Articles of Association produced to the meeting and, for the purposes of identification, initialled 
by the Chairman of the meeting, be adopted as the Articles of Association of the Company in substitution 
for, and to the entire exclusion of, the existing Articles of Association of the Company.

By order of the Board

Baillie Gifford & Co
Secretary

Registered Office: 
10–11 Charterhouse Square 
London EC1M 6EE 

14 March 2013



56

notICe oF AnnUAL geneRAL MeetIng continued

NOTES
1. As a member you are entitled to appoint a proxy or proxies to exercise all or any of your rights to attend, speak and vote at the 

AGM. A proxy need not be a member of the Company but must attend the AGM to represent you. You may appoint more than 
one proxy provided each proxy is appointed to exercise rights attached to different shares. You can only appoint a proxy using the 
procedure set out in these notes and the notes to the proxy form. You may not use any electronic address provided either in this 
notice or any related documents (including the circular and proxy form) to communicate with the Company for any purpose other 
than those expressly stated.

2. To be valid any proxy form or other instrument appointing a proxy, together with any power of attorney or other authority under 
which it is signed or a certified copy thereof, must be received by post or (during normal business hours only) by hand at the 
Registrars of the Company at Capita Registrars, PXS, 34 Beckenham Road, Beckenham, BR3 4TU no later than 48 hours (excluding 
non-working days) before the time of the meeting or any adjourned meeting.

3.  Shareholders may also use the online proxy voting service offered by Capita Registrars at www.capitashareportal.com to vote 
or appoint a proxy online. Votes must be received no later than 48 hours (excluding non-working days) before the time of the 
meeting or any adjourned meeting. To vote online, the unique personal identification Investor code printed on the proxy form will 
be required.

4. CREST members who wish to appoint a proxy or proxies through the CREST electronic proxy appointment service may do so by 
using the procedures described in the CREST Manual and/or by logging on to the website www.euroclear.com/CREST. CREST 
personal members or other CREST sponsored members, and those CREST members who have appointed a voting service provider(s), 
should refer to their CREST sponsor or voting service provider(s), who will be able to take the appropriate action on their behalf.

5. In order for a proxy appointment or instruction made using the CREST service to be valid, the appropriate CREST message (a 
‘CREST Proxy Instruction’) must be properly authenticated in accordance with Euroclear UK & Ireland Limited’s specifications, and 
must contain the information required for such instruction, as described in the CREST Manual. The message, regardless of whether 
it constitutes the appointment of a proxy or is an amendment to the instruction given to a previously appointed proxy must, in 
order to be valid, be transmitted so as to be received by the Company’s registrar (ID RA10) no later than 48 hours (excluding non-
working days) before the time of the meeting or any adjournment. For this purpose, the time of receipt will be taken to be the time 
(as determined by the timestamp applied to the message by the CREST Application Host) from which the Company’s registrar is 
able to retrieve the message by enquiry to CREST in the manner prescribed by CREST. After this time any change of instructions 
to proxies appointed through CREST should be communicated to the appointee through other means.

6. CREST members and, where applicable, their CREST sponsors, or voting service providers should note that Euroclear UK & Ireland 
Limited does not make available special procedures in CREST for any particular message. Normal system timings and limitations 
will, therefore, apply in relation to the input of CREST Proxy Instructions. It is the responsibility of the CREST member concerned to 
take (or, if the CREST member is a CREST personal member, or sponsored member, or has appointed a voting service provider(s), 
to procure that his CREST sponsor or voting service provider(s) take(s)) such action as shall be necessary to ensure that a message 
is transmitted by means of the CREST system by any particular time. In this connection, CREST members and, where applicable, 
their CREST sponsors or voting system providers are referred, in particular, to those sections of the CREST Manual concerning 
practical limitations of the CREST system and timings.

7. The Company may treat as invalid a CREST Proxy Instruction in the circumstances set out in Regulation 35(5)(a) of the Uncertificated  
Securities Regulations 2001.

8. The return of a completed proxy form or other instrument of proxy will not prevent you attending the AGM and voting in person 
if you wish.

9. Pursuant to Regulation 41 of the Uncertificated Securities Regulations 2001 and Section 311 of the Companies Act 2006 the 
Company specifies that to be entitled to attend and vote at the Annual General Meeting (and for the purpose of the determination 
by the Company of the votes they may cast), shareholders must be registered in the Register of Members of the Company no later 
than 48 hours (excluding non-working days) prior to the commencement of the AGM or any adjourned meeting. Changes to the 
Register of Members after the relevant deadline shall be disregarded in determining the rights of any person to attend and vote at 
the meeting.

10. Any person to whom this notice is sent who is a person nominated under Section 146 of the Companies Act 2006 to enjoy information 
rights (a ‘Nominated Person’) may, under an agreement between him/her and the shareholder by whom he/she was nominated, 
have a right to be appointed (or to have someone else appointed) as a proxy for the Annual General Meeting. If a Nominated Person 
has no such proxy appointment right or does not wish to exercise it, he/she may, under any such agreement, have a right to give 
instructions to the shareholder as to the exercise of voting rights. 

11. The statement of the rights of shareholders in relation to the appointment of proxies in Notes 1 and 2 above does not apply to 
Nominated Persons. The rights described in those Notes can only be exercised by shareholders of the Company.

12. The members of the Company may require the Company to publish, on its website, (without payment) a statement (which is also 
passed to the auditors) setting out any matter relating to the audit of the Company’s accounts, including the auditors’ report and the 
conduct of the audit. The Company will be required to do so once it has received such requests from either members representing 
at least 5% of the total voting rights of the Company or at least 100 members who have a relevant right to vote and hold shares in 
the Company on which there has been paid up an average sum per member of at least £100. Such requests must be made in writing 
and must state your full name and address and be sent to the Company at 10–11 Charterhouse Square, London, EC1M 6EE.

13. Information regarding the Annual General Meeting, including information required by Section 311A of the Companies Act 2006, 
is available from the Company’s page of the Manager’s website at www.heralduk.com.

14.  Members have the right to ask questions at the meeting in accordance with Section 319A of the Companies Act 2006.

15. As at 26 February 2013 (being the last practicable date prior to the publication of this notice) the Company’s issued share capital 
consisted of 78,814,546 Ordinary shares, carrying one vote each. Therefore, the total voting rights in the Company as at 26 February 
2013 were 78,814,546 votes. 

16. Any person holding 3% or more of the total voting rights of the Company who appoints a person other than the Chairman of the 
meeting as his proxy will need to ensure that both he and his proxy complies with their respective disclosure obligations under the 
UK Disclosure and Transparency Rules.

17. No Director has a contract of service with the Company.

18. A copy of the proposed new Articles of Association of the Company will be available at 20 Cursitor Street, London, EC4A 1LT and 
10–11 Charterhouse Square, London, EC1M 6EE during normal business hours on any day (Saturdays, Sundays and public holidays 
excepted) from the date of the notice of the AGM until the conclusion of the AGM.
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•	 How to Invest The Company’s shares are traded on the London Stock Exchange. They can be bought 
by placing an order with a stockbroker or by asking a professional adviser to do so.

•	 sources of Further Information on the Company The price of shares is quoted daily in the Financial 
Times, The Daily Telegraph and The Times. The NAV per share is calculated and released daily to the 
London Stock Exchange and monthly to the Association of Investment Companies.

•	 Key Dates Ordinary shareholders normally receive a dividend in respect of each financial year which is 
normally paid late April/early May. The AGM is normally held in April.

•	 taxation The price of the Ordinary shares (adjusted for the price of attributable warrants) on 21 February 
1994, which was the first day of trading, was 90.9p. The amount attributable to the warrants for the purpose 
of capital gains tax is 9.1p per share issued (1994 Annual Report). Any shareholder uncertain of his or her 
position is recommended to seek expert advice.

•	 IsAs The Ordinary shares of the Company are qualifying investments for individual saving accounts.

•	 electronic Proxy voting If you hold stock in your own name you can choose to vote by returning 
proxies electronically at www.capitashareportal.com. If you have any questions about this service please 
contact Capita Registrars on 0871 664 0300 (calls cost 10p per minute plus network extras, lines are open  
8.30 am to 5.30 pm Monday-Friday).

Herald is an investment trust. Investment trusts offer investors the following:

•	 Participation in a diversified portfolio of shares.

•	 Constant supervision by experienced professional managers.

•	 The Company is free from capital gains tax on capital profits realised within the portfolio.

•	 The opportunity to achieve improved performance for shareholders’ funds in rising markets by the 
borrowing of additional money.

FURtHeR sHAReHoLDeR InFoRMAtIon




